MID-CAREER WORKERS WITH DISABILITIES:

A SECONDARY ANALYSIS OF THE 2017 CANADIAN SURVEY ON DISABILITY

PREPARED BY:

Adele D. Furrie Adele Furrie Consulting Inc., Ottawa

Arti Diveda Aleksandra Vojnov Dr. Kathleen Clarke

PREPARED FOR:

The Mid-career Workers with Disabilities Project

August 2022

This report was produced as part of a project funded by the Future Skills Centre (FSC), with financial support from the Government of Canada's Future Skills Program.

FSC is a forward-thinking centre for research and collaboration dedicated to preparing Canadians for employment success. We believe Canadians should feel confident about the skills they have to succeed in a changing workforce. As a pan-Canadian community, we are collaborating to rigorously identify, test, measure, and share innovative approaches to assessing and developing the skills Canadians need to thrive in the days and years ahead. The Future Skills Centre was founded by a consortium whose members are Toronto Metropolitan University, Blueprint ADE, and The Conference Board of Canada

The opinions and interpretations in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the Future Skills Centre or the Government of Canada.













This report was developed through the Mid-career Workers with Disabilities (MCWD) Project with funding from Canada's Future Skills Centre | Centre des Compétences Futures (https://fsc-ccf.ca)

The project addresses career adaptability by targeting the adaptive response skills development needs of MCWD. Through fostering and strengthening career adaptability, the project aims to potentiate other work underway to ameliorate the barriers MCWD and other disability cohorts face in the Canadian labour market.

The project is a partnership between researchers from 4 postsecondary institutions (Ontario Tech University, Nipissing University, Durham College, York University) and the following 4 not-for-profit provincial and national organizations:









Table of Contents

Key F	Findings	1
Back	ground	6
View	s from the literature	7
Meth	hodology	10
1.	Data source	10
2.	Defining the research population	10
Desc	ribing the Research Population	11
1.	Demographic characteristics	11
2.	Disability and health characteristics	12
3.	Education characteristics	14
	Is there a difference in the level of education between MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is to a difference between the sexes?	
	Does education level differ with severity of disability?	14
	For MCW with a post-secondary certificate, diploma or degree, is there a difference between MCW with disabiliand MCW without disabilities with respect to major field of study? Is there a difference between the sexes?	
	For MCW with disabilities who have a post-secondary certificate, diploma or degree, is there a difference in field study depending on severity of disability?	-
4.	Labour force characteristics	18
	Is there a difference in employment status between MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is sex factor?	
	Does employment status differ by severity of disability?	18
5.	Low Income	18
Labo	our market experience of MCW who are employed	20
	Does having post-secondary education increase the probability of securing employment? Is the probability the sfor MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is sex a factor?	
	Does severity of disability affect the probability of being employed regardless of level of education?	21
	Do MCW with disabilities have occupations that are in similar fields in comparison to MCW without disabilities?	²21
	Does severity of disability have an impact on the choice of occupation?	23
	Are MCW with disabilities employed in the same industries as MCW without disabilities?	24
	Are MCW with disabilities more likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions? Is the situation differen younger workers with disabilities? For older workers with disabilities?	
	Disclosure of disability to employer – Do most MCW disclose their condition to their employer? Does rate of disclosure differ depending on severity of disability? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?	27
	Workplace accommodation – Do the majority of MCW with disabilities who are employees require an accommodation in the workplace? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older	

employees with disabilities? What types of workplace accommodations are requested, and does the need vary by sex and/or by age?2	27
Discrimination in the workplace – Do MCW who are employees perceive discrimination? Does perceived discrimination in the workplace differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?	
Perceived disadvantage in employment – Do MCW who are employees perceive that they are disadvantaged in employment? Does this perception differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?	29
Under-employed – Do MCW who are employees believe that they are under-employed? Does this perception differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?3	
Labour Market Experience of MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	32
Highest level of education achieved — Does level of education have an impact when seeking employment? Does this impact vary by sex? By severity of disability? By age?	
Perceived limitation in the workplace – Do unemployed MCW perceive that they are limited in the workplace? Does this perception differ by sex? By severity of disability? Does that perception differ when compared to younger workers or older workers?	
Type of employment sought – Does type of employment sought differ by sex? By severity of disability? Is the type of employment sought different for younger workers with disabilities? Older workers?	
Condition affects ability to look for work – Does an MCW's condition affect their ability to look for work? Does this differ by sex? By severity of disability? Does this affect MCW more or less than younger workers? Older workers?	35
Accommodation in the workplace – Do unemployed MCW require accommodation in the workplace? Does this need vary by sex? By severity of disability? Is the need greater among younger workers? Older workers? Does type of accommodation differ?	
Sources used when looking for work — What sources were used by MCW when seeking employment? Did these sources differ by sex? By severity of disability? Did younger workers and older workers use the same sources when seeking employment?	37
Discrimination in the workplace – Do MCW who are unemployed perceive discrimination in the workplace? Is sex of severity of disability a factor? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employee with disabilities?	S
Labour Market Experience of MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force	1 1
What are the barriers that MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working have encountered that discourages them from looking for work? Do these barriers differ b sex?	•
What is the experience MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working had when interacting in the labour market? Does this experience differ by sex?	12
Conclusion	13
References	14

Key Findings

Today's rapidly changing labour market requires all workers to be flexible—to adopt new roles within their chosen career and to be ready to change careers. This ability to adapt requires that an individual sees the need and has the tools required to self-manage their career in the context of labour market volatility. While challenging for any worker, workers with disabilities are already facing challenges that include under-employment, barriers to training, discrimination in the workplace, and lack of workplace accommodation.

The Supporting Mid-Career Workers with Disabilities through Community-building, Education, and Career-Progression Resources project is funded by the Government of Canada's Future Skills Centre. It addresses career adaptability by targeting the adaptive response skills development needs of mid-career workers with disabilities.

The objective of this report is to provide the research team with as much quantitative data as possible from the 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability. For the purpose of this report, the decision was taken to define mid-career workers (MCW) as individuals aged 35 to 49 inclusive, regardless of employment status. The report provides demographic data on the entire MCW population, and then breaks that population down into three sub-populations: MCW who are employed; MCW who are unemployed; and MCW who are neither employed nor actively looking for work.

Demographic data for the MCW population

- Among the 6,246,640 Canadians with disabilities aged 15 years and older, there were 1,180,400 who were age 35 to 49 years inclusive (our MCW population), representing 18.9% of the total population with disabilities aged 15 years and older.
- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are
 - o more likely to be female: 55.2% compared to 50.1%
 - older, with 37.1% aged 45 to 49 years compared to 33.5%; the greater difference is among the female population, at 39.8% versus 33.5%, compared to 34.9% versus 33.4% for males
- Statistics Canada developed a four-point severity scale based on the respondent's answers to the Disability Screening Questions (DSQs) (Statistics Canada, 2018). Using this scale, almost half of MCW with disabilities (44.6%) were classified as having a mild disability; the figures were 45.7% for males and 43.6% for females.
- The majority of MCW with disabilities (67.8%) acquired their first disability after the age of 19: 70.6% of females and 64.4% of males.
- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are
 - almost twice as likely to have less than a high school diploma or its equivalent (15% versus 8%); this
 difference is greater among females than males (13.5% versus 6.3% for females and 16.9% versus 9.8% for
 males)
 - more likely to report that their highest certificate or diploma is a high school or equivalency certificate (24.2% versus 20.4%); the difference is greater among males than females (27.2% versus 22.1% for males and 21.7% versus 18.8% for females)
 - more likely to report a post-secondary non-university certificate or diploma (37.2% versus 33.1%); the difference is greater among females than males (37.6% versus 32.2% for females and 36.6% versus 34.2% for males)
 - less likely to report having a bachelor's degree as their highest level of education (15.2% versus 22.7%). It is also worth noting that females, regardless of disability status, are more likely than males to report having a bachelor's degree
 - almost twice less likely to report having a graduate degree (6.2% versus 12.6%); however, 8.7% of MCW with disabilities who have a mild disability have obtained a graduate degree and 1.6% of MCW with disabilities who have a very severe disability have obtained a graduate degree

- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are
 - o less likely to be employed, with a gap of 19 percentage points—65.8% compared to 85.2%; the gap is greater for males than females
 - almost three times more likely to neither employed nor actively seeking employment—28.6% versus 10.3%;
 the gap is greater among males (27% versus 6%)
- MCW with mild disabilities have almost the same employment rate as MCW without disabilities—83.4% compared to 85.2%; however, among MCW with very severe disabilities, the employment rate drops to 31.1%
- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are twice as likely to be living in a low-income household—18.9% versus 9.9%; this holds true for both males and females.
- MCW with very severe disabilities are almost three times more likely to be living in a low-income household than MCW with mild disabilities and are almost four times as likely than MCW without disabilities (33.2% versus 9.9%).

Labour market experience of MCW – The employed

Just under two-thirds (65.8% or 777,200) MCW are employed. This section of the report describes their workplace experience.

The probability of securing employment increases dramatically for MCW regardless of disability status and sex if one has some post-secondary education.

- Only 44.2% of MCW with disabilities who have less than a high school diploma or its equivalent are employed, compared to 80.7% of MCW with disabilities who have post-secondary university. This same difference exists among MCW without disabilities; however, the difference is not as dramatic—69.2% versus 88.1% respectively.
- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are less likely to be employed regardless of level of education the; however, the gap narrows as level of education increases.
- Even with post-secondary education, securing employment continues to evade MCW with disabilities. 23.1% with post-secondary non-university and 19.3% with post-secondary university were not employed at the time of the survey. These percentages are much lower than for MCW without disabilities, at 11.7% and 11.9% respectively.

As severity of disability increases, the probability of being employed decreases significantly, regardless of level of education.

- Over nine out of 10 MCW with a mild disability who have post-secondary non-university are employed. However,
 even having that level of education does not guarantee employment: eight out of 10 with a moderate disability are
 employed, dropping to six out of 10 with a severe disability and only four out of 10 with a very severe disability.
- Having post-secondary university follows a similar pattern, but the decline is not so severe. Still, only five out of 10 with very severe disability are employed.

Among male MCWs, regardless of whether they have a disability or not, one out of four report an occupation in the "trades, transport and equipment operators and related occupations" (24.3% and 24.0% respectively). However, the second most reported occupation differs between employed MCW with disabilities and those without. For employed male MCW with disabilities, it is an occupation in "sales and service", while for employed male MCW without disabilities, it is an occupation in the "management" group.

With the exception of the "health care and social assistance" industry, employed MCW with disabilities are employed proportionately at the same rate as employed MCW without disabilities, and this holds for both males and females.

Recall that only 65.8% of MCW are employed and, of those, 7 out of 10 (69.6%) are employed in permanent full-time positions. This means that 3 out of 10 MCW with disabilities (31.1%) are employed in permanent part-time positions, in non-permanent positions or are self-employed. For some, this results in lower income, financial insecurity, and limited or no access to benefits.

• Employed female MCW with disabilities are less likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions than their male counterparts—66.7% versus 73.1% respectively.

- Compared to younger workers with disabilities (aged 18 to 34) and older workers with disabilities (aged 50 to 64 years), employed MCW with disabilities are
 - o more likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions (69.6% versus 59% for younger and 59.7% for older)
 - o less likely than older workers to be self-employed (12.8% versus 22% respectively)

Just under two-thirds (64.4%) of MCW with disabilities who are employees disclose their disability to their employer, which means that four out of 10 MCW with disabilities who are employees do not.

- Employed male MCW with disabilities who are employees are less likely to disclose than their female counterparts (60% versus 68.1% respectively).
- Disclosure of disability increases from 63.4% among MCW with a mild disability who employees to 77.7% among MCW with a severe disability who are employees.
- Disclosure of disability to employers increases as age increases amongst MCW with disabilities who are employees: 57.1% of young workers, 64.4% of MCW, and 70% of older workers disclose their disability to their employer.

Just over one in three (34.7%) of MCW with disabilities who are employees require at least one type of workplace accommodation and, proportionately, more females than males require a workplace accommodation—39.7% versus 28.6%. The need for workplace accommodation by employees with disabilities increases as age increases—from 30.5% among young workers with disabilities to 37% among older workers.

Employees with disabilities were asked about perceived discrimination related to their condition in three work-related scenarios: getting a job interview, getting a job, and getting a promotion.

- 6.5% of MCW with disabilities who are employees, and more males than females (7.5% versus 5.7%), report that they were refused an interview for a job, and this perception decreases as age increases.
- One in 10 male MCW with disabilities who are employees report that they were refused a job. Among young
 employees with disabilities, 12.2% believe that were refused a job because of their condition, and this perception
 decreases as age increases.
- Proportionately, more female MCW who are employees believe that they were refused a promotion because of their condition. Among young employees with disabilities, 12.5% believe that were refused a promotion because of their condition, and this perception decreases as age increases.

Regardless of sex and age, among MCW with disabilities who are employees, approximately one in four employees with disabilities considers themselves to be disadvantaged in employment and believes that an employer (current or potential) would consider them to be disadvantaged in employment.

Male MCW with disabilities who are employees are more likely than their female peers to believe that their current position does not give them the opportunity to use all of their education (24.2% versus 21.5%). In addition, male MCW with disabilities who are employees are more likely than their female peers to believe that their current position does not require the level of education that they have (34.6% versus 29%). Perceived under-employment decreases as age increases.

Labour market experience of MCW with disabilities – The Unemployed

MCW with disabilities who are unemployed make up 5.3% (62,800) of the MCW population with disabilities. Proportionately, there are slightly more males than females—5.6% versus 5.1%.

MCW with disabilities who have a moderate or severe disability are over-represented in the population that is actively seeking employment (the unemployed). Just over half (50.8%) of MCW with disabilities who are actively seeking employment have a moderate or severe disability. Within the total MCW population with disabilities, only 36.2% have a moderate or severe disability.

MCW with disabilities who have no post-secondary education are over-represented in the population that is actively seeking employment. Among young workers with disabilities who are actively seeking employment, the majority (68.9%) have no post-secondary education; among MCW with disabilities, half have no post-secondary and half do. And among older workers, 71.2% have post-secondary education.

Just over half (51.8%) of MCW with disabilities believe that they are limited in the kind or amount of work they can do. Proportionately, this perception is greater among females than males—58.7% versus 43.8%. This perception increases from 39% among MCW with a mild disability to 92.5% among MCW with very severe disabilities.

Seven out of 10 (70.6%) MCW with disabilities who are unemployed are seeking full-time employment (30 hours or more per week). Among males, this figure is nine out 10 (89.1%), and it is five out of 10 (53.6%) among females.

Proportionately, more MCW with disabilities who are unemployed require a workplace accommodation than MCW with disabilities who are employed—43.9% versus 34.7%. The difference between the two populations is greater for females than males. Among female MCW with disabilities who are unemployed, more than half (53.3%) would require a workplace accommodation compared to 39.7% among female MCW with disabilities who are employed. Nine out of 10 MCW with a very severe disability who are unemployed require a workplace accommodation.

The three sources most often used by unemployed MCW with disabilities to find employment opportunities include a union, a government employment agency, or a job ad (either placed or answered). These three sources do not vary by sex or by age.

Perception of discrimination with respect to getting an interview for a job or getting a job is much higher among MCW with disabilities who are unemployed than among MCW with disabilities who are employed.

Three out of 10 (31.1%) of MCW with disabilities who are unemployed believe that their condition has an impact on their ability to seek employment. This perception dramatically increases as severity of disability increases—from one in 10 (9.5%) among MCW with a mild disability to eight out of 10 (80.3%) among MCW with very severe disabilities.

Labour market experience of MCW with disabilities – Those who are not in the labour force

There are 242,200 MCW with disabilities who are neither employed nor actively looking for work (not in the labour force). Among this population is 89,600 MCW with disabilities who are currently "not in the labour force" and who reported that their condition did not prevent them from working.

Compared to male MCW with disabilities who are not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working, female MCW with disabilities in the same employment position are

- almost twice less likely to believe that their expected employment income would be less than their current income—6.4% versus 12.2%
- less likely to believe that they would lose their additional supports—10.1% versus 14.7%
- less likely to have experienced discrimination in the past—11.6% versus 19.7%
- twice less likely to have been unsuccessful when attempting to find work—14.9% versus 29.7%
- more likely to feel that their training or experience is not adequate for the current job market—32.5% versus 25.6%

Compared to male MCW with disabilities who are not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working, female MCW in the same employment position

- are less likely to have told their previous employer about their condition—21% versus 30.3%
- were less likely to have been working when they became limited—27.8% versus 45.5%
- are less likely to believe that their condition affects their ability to look for work—27.2% versus 60.5%
- are less likely to have looked for work in the past two years—29.5% versus 46.4%

Background

Today's rapidly changing labour market requires all workers to be flexible — to adopt new roles within their chosen career and to be ready to change careers. The ability to adapt requires that an individual sees the need and has the tools required to self-manage their career in the context of labour market volatility. While challenging for any worker, workers with disabilities are already facing challenges that include under-employment, barriers to training, discrimination in the workplace, and lack of workplace accommodation.

The Supporting Mid-Career Workers with Disabilities through Community-building, Education, and Career-Progression Resources project is funded by the Government of Canada's Future Skills Centre. It addresses career adaptability by targeting the adaptive response skills development needs of mid-career workers (MCW) with disabilities.

The objectives of the project include:

- gaining insight into the experiences and needs of MCW with disabilities related to employment and career
 adaptability, as well as the perceptions of employers and disability organizations/advocacy groups about the tools
 and resources required to support MCW with disabilities.
- developing and launching tools and resources to support MCW with disabilities, focusing on three areas: educationrelated services, virtual peer-to-peer networking and support, and employment-related career coaching and other resources
- conducting evaluations of user experiences with the tools and resources developed and describing the impact of the interventions on the career adaptive responses of users

This report represents a secondary analysis of the data collected in the 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability and is a component of Phase 1 of the project, which consists of gathering the information to inform the development of the tools. Phase 1 also includes a scoping review and a national stakeholder consultation involving an online survey to be completed by MCW with disabilities and focus groups with MCW with disabilities, employers, and advocacy and support organizations.

Views from the literature

According to Indeed (a world-wide job listing website), mid-career is the stage in your career when you have earned experience and expertise but still have many years left in your career to gain more experience, advance your qualifications, pursue leadership roles, and earn a higher salary. Mid-career begins approximately five to 10 years into a professional career. Assuming the length of a career is approximately 40 years, mid-career takes place around years 10 through 25, or the middle third.¹

It is noted here that there is a dearth of literature that specifically addresses the issues facing MCW with or without disabilities. That said, the literature—both academic and grey—is replete with articles and reports that speak to the employment situation of people with disabilities and people without disabilities. The views from the literature that are included here provide the context for the analysis of the data collected in the 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability using a MCW lens.

People with disabilities have long recognized employment as fundamental to their well-being and to the exercise of their human rights (e.g., Canadian Association for Community Living (CACL), 2006, 2009; CACL & People First of Canada, 2013a; Council of Canadians with Disabilities (CCD), 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2013; Standing Committee on Human Resources, Skills and Social Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities, 2013; Pereira-Silva et al., 2018). Income from employment helps people pay the bills for themselves and their families, helps confer and reflect human dignity among those who have jobs, provides opportunities for developing and expressing human capacities (Pope Francis, 2014), and provides opportunities for people to enter into and maintain valued friendships (Branje, Laninga-Wijnen, Yu, & Meeus, 2014). Employment is a vehicle for contributing to pensions and other retirement income that become particularly important as people get older and as the likelihood of disability increases (ESDC, 2015).

However, this view of the literature reveals that the topic of employment with respect to people with disabilities is frequently discussed within the context of unemployment. Research describes significantly lower rates of employment for people with disabilities compared to people without disabilities (Athanasou et al., 2019; Chloe & Baldwin, 2017; Dwertmann, 2016; Government of Canada, 2010; Petasis, 2020; Richard & Hennekam, 2021; Santilli et al., 2014; Yin & Shaewitz, 2015). Santilli et al. (2015) found a 44% rate of employment for individuals of working age with intellectual disabilities, compared to 75% for those of working age without disabilities. Similarly, in both the United States and European countries, the rate of unemployment amongst those with disabilities was reported to be twice as high as those without disabilities (Dwertmann, 2016).

Type of disability is one factor that influences labour force involvement and workforce experiences. Yin and Shaewitz (2015) found that the labour force presence of people with vision and/or hearing disabilities was 26%, it was 17% for those with cognitive disabilities, and 15% for those with ambulatory disabilities. Understanding this relationship is complex because of the high co-occurrence of disability types (Arim, 2015).

Krause (2018) found that those with learning or intellectual disabilities or those with multiple disabilities reported lower or no employer-provided benefits (Krause, 2018; Schur et al., 2007; Yin & Shaewitz, 2015). Cavanagh et al. (2017) also found that people in management positions often had different responses to employees with disabilities based on type of disability.

To receive workplace modifications, employees need to disclose that they experience disability and require accommodation (Prince, 2015; Toth & Dewa, 2014). In a formal disclosure for purposes of requesting accommodations, employees can choose to reveal their health condition, the impairment effects they experience, or only the accommodations they require (MacDonald-Wilson et al., 2011). Findings also suggest that the (in)visibility, severity, and controllability of their disability, as well as the need for workplace adjustments, impacted the extent of perceived

¹ https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/finding-a-job/mid-career

stigmatization (Richard & Hennekam, 2021), such that Summers et al. (2018) found that individuals with non-apparent conditions face treatment discrimination when disclosing disability-related needs. As such, Summers et al. (2021) suggested that these individuals may continuously do a cost/benefit analysis of the negative effects of stigmatization versus the benefits of disclosure and seeking workplace accommodations. Further, Mpofu et al. (2019) noted that persons with autism spectrum disorders cited lack of job accommodations as a common barrier to support adequate functioning.

Sometimes disclosure experiences are positive (Dewa et al., 2010) insofar as they grant people with disabilities access to accommodations and protection under human rights legislation, provide a sense of emotional relief (Martinez & Hebl, 2016; Stutterheim et al., 2017), and prevent misunderstandings among co-workers about accommodations or disability effects (Oldfield et al., 2016). Revealing and discussing disability can also challenge stereotypes and negative perceptions of disability in the workplace (Gignac et al., 2021).

Although workplace accommodations play an important role in facilitating access to employment for workers with disabilities, they are not always made available. Many employees who need workplace accommodations do not request them (Paulides et al., 2020; Till et al., 2015). For workers with disabilities who do seek formal accommodations—most often involving modifications to duties or scheduling—research has shown that between one-third and two-thirds do not receive them (Jetha et al., 2021; Paulides et al., 2020; Stone et al., 2014). In the absence of formal accommodations, workers use creative strategies to cope (Rathbun-Grubb, 2021; Smyth et al., 2016).

Accommodating the employee with a disability can sometimes be challenging, but employers can build on existing workplace communication channels and supervisory relationships (Nelson et al., 2016). The most commonly required accommodations are flexible work arrangements, including work from home and flexible hours (Furrie et al., 2016; Jetha et al., 2018). Until recently, these arrangements have often been seen as challenging to implement, as they can impact workflows, leading to conflict between workers experiencing disability and co-workers if co-workers perceive accommodation-related changes as unfair (Tulk et al., 2021). They may also be perceived by co-workers as unfair "perks" rather than necessary accommodations, which can give rise to resentment (Dunstan & MacEachen, 2014). As the COVID-19 pandemic has shown, it is possible to implement flexible working arrangements on a more widespread basis (Brown et al., 2021). Allowing all staff to benefit from flexible work arrangements improves morale and work performance and reduces stigma for employees experiencing episodic disability (Gignac et al., 2018; Tompa et al., 2015).

Employment risks for people with disabilities can also be magnified when their underlying health condition is not yet well understood by medicine and/or is otherwise viewed negatively by employers and co-workers (Brouwers, 2020; Moss & Teghtsoonian, 2008; Oldfield et al., 2018; Stergiou-Kita et al., 2016; Toye et al., 2016). For example, stigma has been recognized as a significant barrier to addressing issues related to mental health in the workplace (Brouwers, 2020; Elraz, 2018; Yoshimura, Bakolis & Henderson, 2018). Co-workers may consider colleagues with a disability as a result of a mental health condition as being less productive, competent and reliable (Brohan et al., 2012; Munir et al., 2005; Vick, 2014), or may perceive them as lazy or worthy of pity (Kristman et al., 2014; Stone et al., 2013). Employees with disabilities may also be subject to excessive monitoring and scrutiny (Gignac et al., 2021; MacDonald-Wilson et al., 2011; Oldfield, 2016), harassment (Jones et al., 2018; von Schrader et al., 2014), and layoffs or contract non-renewal (Beatty, 2006; Brouwers, 2020).

Experiences of discrimination—even if seemingly subtle—impact employee performance and can even result in workers with disabilities quitting their job and/or leaving the workforce entirely (Crom et al., 2018; Rose et al., 2017). Employers can address these issues and create more welcoming workplaces by adopting workplace policies that reflect relevant legislation, research, and best practices on the inclusion of workers with disabilities (Realize, 2020). Education aimed at improving knowledge of disability to reduce stigma is recognized as particularly effective in facilitating the employment of people with disabilities (Ebuenyi et al., 2020).

Existing research concerning people with disabilities reveals that people with disabilities are over-represented in blue-collar jobs, such as production and service positions, and are significantly less likely to be in professional, sales, or managerial positions (Hoque & Bacon, 2022; Kruse et al., 2018; Schur et al., 2007). Because of the types of positions people with disabilities tend to hold, several other challenges arise. Research has revealed people with disabilities tend to have less job security (Annequin et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2018; Wilton, 2006), are less likely to work full-time (Chloe & Baldwin, 2017; Jones, 2007; Schur, 2003; Schur et al., 2007), and have fewer opportunities for increased pay (Coetzee et al., 2017; Mithout, 2021). While each of these items is closely tied to finances, other challenges also exist. While part-time work can address workers' need for greater flexibility in hours and scheduling, these roles rarely include extended health benefits (Furrie et al., 2016; Meredith & Chia, 2015; Lewchuck et al., 2014). As a result, people with health conditions that result in disability are left to spend a larger share of their often insufficient wage on healthcare costs (Okediji et al., 2017). Workers in temporary and part-time roles are also less likely to access the benefits of union membership, including increased wages (Lewchuk, 2017), health and safety protocols (Tran & Sokas, 2017), training, job security, collectively negotiated contracts, and labour law protections (Facey & Eakin, 2010).

Some research has shown that people with disabilities report receiving insufficient training for their roles (Rashid et al., 2017; Soeker et al., 2018; Schur et al., 2007). Perhaps connected to this issue is a perception among employees with disabilities that they are being supervised more closely and have little say or involvement in departmental decisions (Schur et al., 2007).

It is perhaps not surprising, then, that some research has shown that employees with disabilities report feeling underutilized (Konrad et al., 2012) and experiencing lower levels of job satisfaction (Flores et al., 2021; Schur et al., 2007). Mithout (2021) also noted that many employees with disabilities are seen by their supervisors as incapable of evolving. Employees noted facing discrimination (e.g., being denied a position or promotion) stemming from management concerns around safety and their ability to carry out work tasks autonomously. The various workplace challenges, combined with these perceptions of feeling under-utilized and unsatisfied at work, are likely contributing factors to the higher turnover rates among people with disabilities (Schur et al., 2007).

These perceptions present barriers to career advancement because of slow or lack of promotion, which creates an environment that is not supportive of people with disabilities—an environment in which there is a lack of disability awareness/understanding (Coetzee et al., 2017).

Some existing research examines the employer's perspective in relation to employees with disabilities. Michna et al. (2017) found that of the 150 small and medium-sized enterprises investigated, 76% had never collaborated with entities that support the employment of persons with disabilities. Further, Cavanagh et al. (2017) explained that most employers fail to fully understand the support available to employers who employ individuals with disabilities. Cavanagh et al. (2017) also note a disconnect between human relations (HR) policies and implementation due to limited knowledge of how to support employees with disabilities, namely with respect to their daily challenges and work-related needs.

As noted at the beginning of this section, the literature deals with the employment issues faced by workers with disabilities at all stages in their careers. The objective of this report is to apply this knowledge to gain a better understanding of the experience of workers with disabilities who are in their mid-career stage.

Methodology

1. Data source

The 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability (2017 CSD) is the data source for this report. The sampling frame from which the survey's sample was selected was derived from the responses to activity limitation questions on the 2016 National Household Survey (2016 NHS)—the long form of the 2016 Census of Population. Given that the 2016 NHS excludes the institutionalized population and persons living in other collective-type dwellings, the 2017 CSD covers only persons living in private dwellings in Canada. Also, for operational reasons, the population living on First Nation reserves is also excluded.

The sample size for persons aged 15 years and older was 49,976 individuals. The response rate was 68.9%. For more details on the sample design, data collection, and data processing, readers are encouraged to access the methodology report prepared by Statistics Canada.

The data included in this report were obtained using Statistics Canada's Real Time Remote Access (RTRA) online tabulation tool. Associated with each of the estimates is the coefficient of variation (CV) of the estimate. In this report, any estimate with a CV greater than 16.5% but less than or equal to 33.3% will be identified by the letter "E", indicating that the data should be used with caution. Estimates with a CV greater than 33.3% will be suppressed and will be noted with the letter "F".

2. Defining the research population

Mid-career begins approximately five to 10 years into a professional career. If the length of a career is approximately 40 years, mid-career takes place around years 10 through 25, or the middle third. As every person has a unique employment experience, this might not have much to do with age, although age can be an indicator.

For this report, the decision was taken to use an age cohort rather than a number of years worked because the 2017 CSD did not include a question about the number of years worked.

The selection of an appropriate age range assumes that a professional career spans 35 to 40 years, with the early career period being the first 10 years and the mid-career being from years 11 to 25. With that assumption, and assuming that most people enter the workforce at age 20, the corresponding age range for a MCW would be 35 to 45 years. The upper limit of the range was extended to 49 because people with disabilities are more likely to enter the labour market later in their adulthood due to several factors, including taking longer to complete their post-secondary education. Recognizing that some individuals acquire a disability during their work life and, therefore would follow the typical pattern of entry into the workforce, it was decided not to adjust the lower age limit.

For the purposes of this report, the decision was taken to define MCW as individuals aged 35 to 49 inclusive, regardless of employment status.

Describing the Research Population

This section of the report provides the characteristics of the total research population and, wherever applicable, the corresponding characteristics for the population without disabilities. All data in this section will be provided by sex and, where applicable, by severity of disability.

Among the 6,246,640 Canadians with disabilities aged 15 years and older, there were 1,180,400 who were age 35 to 49 years inclusive, representing 18.9% of the total population with disabilities aged 15 years and older.

1. Demographic characteristics

Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are

- more likely to be female, 55.2% compared to 50.1%
- older, with 37.1% aged 45 to 49 years compared to 33.5%; the greater difference among the female population, at 39.8% versus 33.5%, compared to 34.9% versus 33.4% for males
- 2.5 times more likely to be Indigenous regardless of sex, with females having the greater difference at 7.3% versus 2.6%, compared to 6.7% versus 2.9% for males
- half as likely to be a visible minority regardless of sex, with females having the greater difference at 14.6% versus 30.6%, compared to 13.5% versus 26.2% for males
- just over half as likely to be an immigrant regardless of sex, with females having the greater difference at 17.9% versus 35.2%, compared to 16.2% versus 30% for males
- less likely to live in Quebec, regardless of sex

	Ol	MCV	V with disabilit	ies	MCW without disabilities			
Characteristics		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females	
Population e	stimate, MCW	1,180,400	528,900	651,500	5,559,700	2,771,600	2,788,100	
	35-39 years	32.3%	29.3%	34.8%	34.2%	34.2%	34.1%	
Age group	40-44 years	30.6%	31.0%	30.2%	32.4%	32.3%	32.5%	
	45-49 years	37.1%	39.8%	34.9%	33.5%	33.5%	33.4%	
Indigenous st	atus - % Indigenous	7.0%	6.7%	7.3%	2.7%	2.9%	2.6%	
Racialized po population	pulation - % racialized	14.1%	13.5%	14.6%	28.4%	26.2%	30.6%	
Immigrant sta	atus - % Immigrant	17.1%	16.2%	17.9%	32.6%	30.0%	35.2%	
	Newfoundland and Labrador Prince Edward Island	1.8% 0.5%	1.7% 0.4%	1.9% 0.5%	1.5% 0.4%	1.5% 0.4%	1.5% 0.4%	
	Nova Scotia	3.7%	3.4%	3.9%	2.2%	2.3%	2.1%	
	New Brunswick	2.4%	2.3%	2.5%	2.0%	2.0%	2.0%	
	Quebec	17.2%	17.3%	17.1%	24.0%	24.5%	23.4%	
	Ontario	41.5%	41.9%	41.1%	38.2%	37.3%	39.1%	
Geography	Manitoba	3.8%	4.0%	3.7%	3.2%	3.3%	3.1%	
	Saskatchewan	3.1%	2.8%	3.3%	2.7%	2.8%	2.6%	
	Alberta	11.9%	11.8%	11.9%	12.6%	13.0%	12.3%	
	British Columbia	13.8%	14.0%	13.6%	13.0%	12.8%	13.2%	
	Yukon	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	
	Northwest Territories	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	
	Nunavut	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	

2. Disability and health characteristics

Statistics Canada developed a four-point severity scale based on the respondent's answers to the Disability Screening Questions (DSQs) (Statistics Canada, 2018). Using this scale,

- almost half of MCW with disabilities (44.6%) are classified as having a mild disability; the figures are 45.7% for males and 43.6% for females
- there were no differences noted between the sexes with respect to severity of disability

More than two-thirds reported having more than one type of disability – 65% for males and 66.8% for females.

- With respect to type of disability reported, five types had a difference between the sexes, with three types being higher for males and two types being higher for females.
 - The three types where the proportion for males was higher than females included:
 - ✓ 40.3% of males reported a flexibility disability (difficulty bending down and picking up an object from the floor; difficulty reaching in any direction) compared to 35.4% of females
 - ✓ 22.6% of males reported a learning disability compared to 17.6% of females
 - ✓ 6.9% of males reported an intellectual/developmental disability compared to 3.8% of females
 - The two types of disabilities where females reported a higher proportion than males were mental health (48.1% versus 37.7%) and pain (68.5% versus 64.2%).

The majority of MCW with disabilities (67.8%) acquired their first disability after the age of 19 (70.6% of females and 64.4% of males).

The 2017 CSD asked the standard two four-point measures of perceived health: physical health and mental health. These two measures are used in the annual Canadian Community Health Survey.

- Almost three out of 10 MCW (27.4%) reported that their physical health was excellent or very good (29% for males versus 26.1% for females).
- Just over three out of 10 MCW (32.7%) reported that their mental health was excellent or very good (34.2% for males versus 31.4% for females).

		Mo	CW with disabilities	
	Characteristics	Both sexes	Males	Females
Population es	stimate, MCW with disabilities	1,180,400	528,900	651,500
	Mild	44.6%	45.7%	43.6%
Severity of	Moderate	18.3%	18.3%	18.3%
disability	Severe	17.9%	16.9%	18.7%
	Very severe	19.2%	19.1%	19.3%
Number of	Only one type	34.0%	34.9%	33.2%
types of	Two types	36.8%	35.3%	38.0%
disabilities	Three or more types	29.2%	29.7%	28.8%
	Seeing	22.5%	23.2%	22.0%
	Hearing	13.4%	14.8%	12.2%
	Mobility	31.1%	29.3%	32.5%
	Dexterity	13.5%	12.1%	14.5%
- (Flexibility	37.6%	40.3%	35.4%
Type of	Learning	19.8%	22.6%	17.6%
disability	Developmental	5.2%	6.9%	3.8%
	Memory	19.7%	20.8%	18.9%
	Mental health	43.5%	37.7%	48.1%
	Pain	66.6%	64.2%	68.5%
	Type unknown	2.8%	2.7%	2.9%
Earliest age	Birth	4.6%	5.5%	3.9%
of onset of	Before age of 20 but not at birth	27.5%	30.1%	25.4%
disability	After the age of 19	67.8%	64.4%	70.6%
Self-	Excellent	4.8%	5.9%	3.9%
perceived	Very good	22.6%	23.1%	22.2%
physical	Good	37.0%	36.4%	37.5%
health	Fair or poor	35.5%	34.5%	36.4%
Self-	Excellent	10.8%	12.2%	9.6%
perceived	Very good	21.9%	22.0%	21.8%
mental	Good	33.1%	32.4%	33.6%
health	Fair or poor	34.1%	33.4%	34.8%

3. Education characteristics

Is there a difference in the level of education between MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is there a difference between the sexes?

Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are

- almost twice as likely to have less than a high school diploma or its equivalent (15% versus 8%); this difference is greater among females than males (13.5% versus 6.3% for females and 16.9% versus 9.8% for males)
- more likely to report that their highest certificate or diploma is a high school or equivalency certificate (24.2% versus 20.4%); the difference is greater among males than females (27.2% versus 22.1% for males and 21.7% versus 18.8% for females)
- more likely to report a post-secondary non-university certificate or diploma (37.2% versus 33.1%); the difference is greater among females than males (37.6% versus 32.2% for females and 36.6% versus 34.2% for males)
- less likely to report having a bachelor's degree as their highest level of education (15.2% versus 22.7%). It is also
 worth noting that females, regardless of disability status, are more likely than males to report having a bachelor's
 degree
- almost twice less likely to report having a graduate degree (6.2% versus 12.6%)

		MCV	/ with disabilit	ies	MCW without disabilities			
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females	
Population es	stimate, MCW	1,180,400	528,900	651,500	5,559,700	2,771,600	2,788,100	
	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent	15.0%	16.9%	13.5%	8.0%	9.8%	6.3%	
	High school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate	24.2%	27.2%	21.7%	20.4%	22.1%	18.8%	
11:-14	Trade certificate or diploma	10.6%	15.0%	7.0%	10.3%	13.9%	6.8%	
Highest certificate, diploma or	College, CEGEP or other non-university certificate/diploma	26.6%	21.6%	30.6%	22.8%	20.3%	25.4%	
degree completed	University certificate or diploma below the	2.20/	1.00/	2.70/	2.00/	2.00/	2.20	
	bachelor's level Bachelor's degree	2.3% 15.2%	1.8% 11.7%	2.7% 18.0%	3.0% 22.7%	2.8% 19.3%	3.3% 26.1%	
	University certificate/diploma/degree above the bachelor's level	6.2%	6.0%	6.5%	12.6%	11.9%	13.3%	
	Unknown	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E				

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

Does education level differ with severity of disability?

- Just under three in 10 MCW with disabilities (26.7%) who have a very severe disability report having less than a high school diploma/certificate or its equivalent compared to one in 10 among MCW with disabilities (10.2%) who have a mild disability.
- 8.7% of MCW with disabilities who have a mild disability have obtained a graduate degree. Only 1.6% of MCW with disabilities who have a very severe disability have obtained a graduate degree.

Table 4. High	Table 4. Highest level of education of MCW with disabilities, by severity of disability								
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe			
Population e	stimate, MCW with								
disabilities		1,180,400	526,000	216,300	211,300	226,800			
	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent	15.0%	10.2%	15.8%	13.7%	26.7%			
	High school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate	24.2%	23.2%	17.9%	31.6%	25.6%			
	Trade certificate or diploma	10.6%	9.7%	9.7%	11.4%	12.7%			
Highest certificate, diploma or	College, CEGEP or other non-university certificate/diploma	26.6%	25.3%	31.2%	26.4%	25.2%			
degree completed	University certificate or diploma below the bachelor's level	2.3%	2.3%	3.6%	1.8%	1.5%			
	Bachelor's degree	15.2%	20.3%	16.7%	9.9%	6.7%			
	University certificate/diploma/degree above the bachelor's level	6.2%	8.7%	5.2%	5.2%	1.6%			
	Unknown	0.0% ^E							

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

For MCW with a post-secondary certificate, diploma, or degree, is there a difference between MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities with respect to major field of study? Is there a difference between the sexes?

Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are

- slightly less likely to have a post-secondary certificate, diploma, or degree in "Business, management and public administration" (20.5% versus 22.3%), "Physical and life sciences and technologies" (2.2% versus 4.0%), and "Architecture, engineering and related technologies" (16.7% versus 18.9%)
- more likely to have a post-secondary certificate, diploma, or degree in "Health and related fields (16.6% versus 13.9%)" and "Personal, protective and transportation services" (7.1% versus 5.6%)

		MCW	/ with disabilit	ies	MCW without disabilities		
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females
Population e	stimate, MCW with a post-						
secondary ce	ertificate/diploma/degree	700,200	280,900	419,300	3,975,400	1,887,700	2,087,700
	Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
	Education	5.5%	3.8%	6.8%	5.8%	2.9%	8.4%
	Visual & performing arts, & communications						
	technologies	4.4%	4.8%	4.1%	3.4%	3.4%	3.4%
	Humanities	5.5%	5.5%	5.5%	5.5%	4.0%	6.8%
	Social and behavioural sciences and law	13.3%	7.3%	17.6%	12.6%	8.9%	15.9%
	Business, management and public administration	20.5%	15.0%	24.4%	22.3%	17.3%	26.9%
Major field	Physical and life sciences and technologies	2.2%	2.0%	2.3%	4.0%	3.8%	4.1%
of study	Mathematics, computer and information sciences	5.9%	9.6%	3.4%	5.5%	8.4%	2.9%
	Architecture, engineering and related technologies	16.7%	34.4%	4.2%	18.9%	35.0%	4.5%
	Agriculture, natural resources and conservation	2.2%	2.6%	1.9%	2.5%	3.4%	1.7%
	Health and related fields Personal, protective and	16.6%	6.8%	23.4%	13.9%	6.5%	20.5%
	transportation services	7.1%	8.2%	6.3%	5.6%	6.4%	4.8%
	Other	0.0% ^E	0.1% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0%
	Field of study not provided	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%			

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution.

For MCW with disabilities who have a post-secondary certificate, diploma, or degree, is there a difference in field of study depending on severity of disability?

There is no clear pattern to indicate that degree of severity of disability has an impact on the choice of field of study.

Table 6. Major field of study for MCW with disabilities who have a post-secondary certificate, diploma, or degree, by severity									
of disability									
		Coverity of disability							

		Severity of disability				
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population e	stimate, MCW with disabilities who					
have a post-s	secondary certificate/diploma/degree	718,000	350,500	143,700	115,500	108,300
	Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
	Education	5.5%	6.0%	6.8%	3.0%	4.9%
	Visual & performing arts, & communications technologies	4.4%	4.3%	3.9%	7.4%	2.3% ^E
	Humanities	5.5%	6.7%	4.5%	5.5%	3.0% ^E
	Social and behavioural sciences and law	13.3%	15.1%	11.3%	12.6%	11.2%
	Business, management and public administration	20.5%	17.1%	27.4%	19.9%	23.0%
Major field	Physical and life sciences and technologies	2.2%	2.8%	2.2% ^E	1.6% ^E	0.6% ^E
of study	Mathematics, computer and information sciences	6.0%	7.3%	6.5% ^E	2.5% ^E	4.7%
	Architecture, engineering and related technologies	16.7%	15.7%	17.1%	17.7%	18.1%
	Agriculture, natural resources and conservation	2.2%	2.2%	1.0% ^E	4.3% ^E	1.3% ^E
	Health and related fields	16.6%	16.8%	15.4%	16.2%	17.7%
	Personal, protective and transportation services	7.1%	5.9%	3.8%	9.2%	13.1%
	Other	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.2% ^E	0.0%
5.01	Field of study not provided	0.0%	0.0%	0.1% ^E	0.0%	0.0%

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution.

4. Labour force characteristics

Is there a difference in employment status between MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is sex a factor?

Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are

- less likely to be employed with a gap of 19 percentage points—65.8% compared to 85.2%; the gap is greater for males than females
- almost three times more likely to neither employed nor actively seeking employment—28.6% versus 10.3%; the gap is greater among males (27% versus 6%)

Table 7. Labour force characteristics of MCW, by sex and disability status										
		MCW with disabilities			MCW without disabilities					
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females			
Population est	imate, MCW	1,180,400	528,900	651,500	5,559,700 2,771,600 2,788,10		2,788,100			
	Employed	65.8%	67.3%	64.7%	85.2%	88.9%	81.5%			
Labour force	Unemployed	5.3%	5.6%	5.1%	4.5%	5.1%	3.9%			
status	Not in the labour force	28.6%	27.0%	30.0%	10.3%	6.0%	14.5%			
	Labour force status not provided	0.2% ^E	0.2% ^E	0.2% ^E						

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

Does employment status differ by severity of disability?

- MCW with mild disabilities have almost the same employment rate as MCW without disabilities (83.4% compared to 85.2%).
- Among MCW with very severe disabilities, the employment rate drops to 31.1%.

		Severity of disability							
		Total Mild Moderate Severe Very sever							
Population es disabilities	stimate, MCW with	1,180,400	525,900	216,400	211,300	226,900			
	Employed	65.8%	83.4%	69.7%	55.5%	31.1%			
Labour	Unemployed	5.3%	4.6%	7.2%	7.9%	3.0%			
force status	Not in the labour force	28.6%	11.8%	22.6%	36.6%	65.9%			
Torce status	Labour force status not provided	0.2% ^E	0.3% ^E	0.5% [€]	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E			

E: Use with caution - CV >= 16.5%.

Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

5. Low Income

The Market Basket Measure (MBM) is a measure of low income based on the cost of a specific basket of goods and services representing a modest, basic standard of living. It includes the costs of food, clothing, footwear, transportation, shelter, and other expenses for a reference family of two adults aged 25-49 and two children (aged 9 and 13). It provides

thresholds for a finer geographic level than the LICO, allowing, for example, different costs for rural areas in the different provinces.² These thresholds are compared to disposable income³ of families to determine low-income status.

Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are twice as likely to be living in a low-income household—18.9% versus 9.9%; this holds true for both males and females.

Table 9. MCW living in low-income household (market basket measure), by sex and disability status										
	MC	W with disabili	ties	MCW without disabilities						
	Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females				
Population estimate, MCW*	1,176,100	527,300	648,800	5,541,400	2,762,400	2,779,000				
Percentage living in low-income										
households	18.9%	17.7%	19.8%	9.9%	9.6%	10.1%				

^{*} The MBM was not developed for the three territories.

Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

MCW with very severe disabilities are almost three times more likely to be living in a low-income household than MCW with mild disabilities and are almost four times as likely than MCW without disabilities (33.2% versus 9.9%).

Table 10. MCW with disabilities living in low-income household (market basket measure), by severity of disability							
		Sc	everity of disability	Y			
	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe		
Population estimate, MCW with							
disabilities*	1,176,100	523,300	215,600	210,700	226,500		
Percentage living in low-income							
households	18.9%	12.7%	13.1%	24.8%	33.2%		

^{*} The MBM was not developed for the three territories.

² https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75f0002m/2015002/mbm-mpc-eng.htm

³ Disposable income is defined as the sum remaining after deducting the following from total family income: total income taxes paid; the personal portion of payroll taxes; other mandatory payroll deductions such as contributions to employer-sponsored pension plans, supplementary health plans, and union dues; child support and alimony payments made to another family; out-of-pocket spending on child care; and non-insured but medically prescribed health-related expenses such as dental and vision care, prescription drugs, and aids for persons with disabilities.

Labour market experience of MCW who are employed

Just under two-thirds (65.8% or 777,200) MCW are employed. This section of the report describes their workplace experience.

Does having post-secondary education increase the probability of securing employment? Is the probability the same for MCW with disabilities and MCW without disabilities? Is sex a factor?

The probability of securing employment increases dramatically for MCW regardless of disability status and sex if one has some post-secondary education.

- Only 44.2% of MCW with disabilities who have less than a high school diploma or its equivalent are employed compared to 80.7% of MCW with disabilities who have post-secondary - university. This same difference exists among MCW without disabilities; however, the difference is not as dramatic—69.2% versus 88.1% respectively.
- Sex is a factor for both MCW with and without disabilities. Among male MCW with disabilities, 54.1% who have less than high school are employed; this figure is 77.5% among those with post-secondary non-university and 81.8% among those with post-secondary university. The difference is more pronounced with female MCW, where only 34.3% with less than a high school diploma or its equivalent are employed compared to 76.8% with post-secondary non-university and 79.6% with post-secondary university. This same difference exists among MCW without disabilities, but the difference is not as dramatic—74.4% versus 92.3% (males) and 59.5% versus 84.4% (females).
- Compared to MCW without disabilities, MCW with disabilities are less likely to be employed regardless of level of education but the gap narrows as level of education increases. For MCW with less than a high school diploma or its equivalent, the gap is 25 percentage points—44.2% (MCW with disabilities) versus 69.2% (MCW without disabilities). For MCW with post-secondary university, the gap is 7.4 percentage points—80.7% (MCW with disabilities) versus 88.1% (MCW without disabilities).
- Even with post-secondary education, securing employment continues to evade MCW with disabilities. 23.1% with post-secondary non-university and 19.3% with post-secondary university were not employed at the time of the survey. These percentages are much lower than for MCW without disabilities at 11.7% and 11.9% respectively.
- Only for male MCW without disabilities does the percentage who are not employed drop below 10%. For male MCW without disabilities who have post-secondary non-university, 9% are not employed at the time of the survey; for MCW without disabilities with post-secondary university, 7.7% are not employed. The respective percentages for male MCW with disabilities are 22.5% and 18.2%.

		Employed MCW with disabilities			Employed MCW without disabilities			
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females	
Population e	stimate, employed MCW	777,200	355,700	421,500	4,738,400	2,465,200	2,273,200	
% who are er	mployed (Table 7)	65.8%	67.3%	64.7%	85.2%	88.9%	81.5%	
Highest	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent	44.2%	54.1%	34.3%	69.2%	74.4%	59.5%	
certificate, diploma or	High school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate	55.6%	61.2%	50.0%	81.9%	86.1%	76.8%	
degree completed	Post-secondary – non- university	76.9%	77.5%	76.8%	88.3%	91.0%	84.8%	
	Post-secondary –university	80.7%	81.8%	79.6%	88.1%	92.3%	84.4%	

Does severity of disability affect the probability of being employed regardless of level of education?

As severity of disability increases, the probability of being employed decreases significantly, regardless of level of education. Recall that 83.4% of MCW with mild disability are employed compared to 31.1% of MCW with very severe disability (Table 8).

- Among MCW with less than a high school diploma or its equivalent, 76.8% are employed. This drops to 20% for MCW with very severe disability. This means that eight out of 10 MCW with a very severe disability are either unemployed or not actively seeking employment (not in the labour force). For MCW with moderate or severe disability, six out of 10 are either unemployed or not actively seeking employment (not in the labour force).
- Nine out of 10 MCW with a mild disability who have post-secondary non-university are employed. However, even having that level of education does not guarantee employment: eight out of 10 with a moderate disability are employed, dropping to six out of 10 with a severe disability and only four out of 10 with a very severe disability.
- Having post-secondary university follows a similar pattern, but the decline is not so severe. Still, only five out of 10 with very severe disability are employed.

		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population e with disabilit	stimate, employed MCW ties	777,200	438,400	151,000	117,300	70,500
% who are e	mployed (Table 8)	65.8%	83.4%	69.7%	55.5%	31.1%
	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent	43.5%	76.8%	37.6%	36.5%	20.0%
Highest certificate, diploma or	High school diploma or a high school equivalency	F2 20/	CF 40/	F.C. 00/	F2 20/	20.00/
degree	certificate	52.2%	65.4%	56.9%	53.2%	20.0%
completed	Post-secondary – non- university	73.5%	91.4%	81.4%	59.6%	40.5%
	Post-secondary –university	81.7%	90.5%	79.4%	65.7%	53.9%

Do MCW with disabilities have occupations that are in similar fields in comparison to MCW without disabilities?

- Almost two-thirds (63%) of employed MCW with disabilities have occupations in four of the 10 occupational groups.
 They include:
 - o sales and services (19.2%)
 - business, finance and administration (16.6%)
 - o education, law and social, community and government services (15%)
 - o trades, transport, and equipment operations and related occupations (12.6%)

These four fields of occupation are also the most frequently reported among employed MCW without disabilities; however, there were differences in the order and these four occupational groupings accounted for only 56% of employed MCW without disabilities.

Among employed male MCW, regardless of whether they have a disability or not, one out of four report an
occupation in the "trades, transport and equipment operators and related occupations" (24.3% and 24.0%
respectively). However, the second most reported occupation differs between employed MCW with disabilities
and those without. For employed male MCW with disabilities, it is an occupation in "sales and service", while for
male MCW without disabilities, it is an occupation in the "management" group.

		Employed	MCW with dis	abilities	Employed N	MCW without d	isabilities
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females
Population e	stimate, employed MCW	777,200	355,700	421,500	5,559,700	2,771,700	2,788,000
	Management occupations	10.9%	12.4%	9.6%	12.5%	15.4%	9.6%
	Business, finance and administration occupations	16.6%	9.4%	22.7%	15.4%	9.7%	21.1%
	Natural and applied sciences and related occupations	6.9%	11.4%	3.2%	7.7%	11.8%	3.5%
	Health occupations	8.1%	4.4%	11.1%	7.2%	2.9%	11.5%
	Occupations in education, law and social, community and government services	15.0%	10.7%	18.6%	12.8%	8.0%	17.5%
Occupation group	Occupations in art, culture, recreation and sport	2.2%	1.7%	2.7%	2.5%	2.4%	2.5%
ыоцр	Sales and service occupations	19.2%	17.4%	20.8%	14.8%	12.6%	16.9%
	Trades, transport and equipment operators and related occupations	12.6%	24.3%	2.7%	13.0%	24.0%	2.2%
	Natural resources, agriculture and related production occupations	1.1%	1.8% ^E	0.5%	1.6%	2.7%	0.5%
	Occupations in manufacturing and utilities	3.6%	4.5%	2.9%	4.0%	5.8%	2.3%
	Occupation not specified	3.8%	2.0%	5.2%	8.6%	4.7%	12.4%

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

Does severity of disability have an impact on the choice of occupation?

There is no clear pattern to indicate that degree of severity of disability has an impact on the choice of occupation.

			Se	verity of disabili	ty	
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population es with disabilit	stimate, employed MCW ies	777,200	438,400	150,900	117,400	70,500
	Management occupations	10.9%	11.1%	13.7%	7.8%	8.4%
	Business, finance and administration					
	occupations	16.6%	16.0%	15.9%	17.8%	19.7%
	Natural and applied sciences and related					
	occupations	6.9%	7.1%	6.8%	7.2% ^E	5.4% ^l
	Health occupations	8.1%	9.6%	6.6%	5.0%	6.8%
	Occupations in education, law and social, community	45.00/	47.00/	44.00/	40.20/	40.50
Occupation	and government services	15.0%	17.0%	14.8%	10.3%	10.5%
group	Occupations in art, culture, recreation and sport	2.2%	2.1%	2.3%	2.6% ^E	2.1%
	Sales and service occupations	19.2%	16.6%	20.6%	24.9%	22.8%
	Trades, transport and equipment operators and					
	related occupations	12.6%	12.2%	11.3%	13.6%	16.0%
	Natural resources, agriculture and related					
	production occupations	1.1% ^E	1.1% ^E	0.8% ^E	0.9% ^E	2.1%
	Occupations in manufacturing and utilities	3.6% ^E	3.9%	5.0% ^E	2.6% ^E	0.4%
	Occupation not specified	3.8%	3.1% ^E	2.1%	7.2% ^E	5.7%

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

Are MCW with disabilities employed in the same industries as MCW without disabilities?

With the exception of the "health care and social assistance" industry, MCW with disabilities are employed proportionately at the same rate as MCW without disabilities, and this holds for both males and females.

		Employed	MCW with dis	abilities	Employed I	MCW without d	isabilities
		Both sexes	Males	Females	Both sexes	Males	Females
Population 6	estimate, employed MCW	777,200	355,700	421,500	5,559,700	2,771,700	2,788,000
	Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting	1.4%	1.5% ^E	1.2%	1.7%	2.5%	0.9%
	Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction	1.5%	2.8%	0.5% ^E	1.7%	2.6%	0.9%
	Utilities	0.8%	1.0% ^E	0.6% ^E	0.8%	1.2%	0.5%
	Construction	5.7%	10.4%	1.8%	7.2%	12.2%	2.2%
	Manufacturing	7.4%	10.7%	4.6%	8.6%	11.8%	5.5%
	Wholesale trade	3.6%	5.1%	2.3%	3.9%	5.2%	2.7%
	Retail trade	10.9%	11.0%	10.7%	7.9%	7.5%	8.3%
	Transportation and warehousing	4.0%	6.7%	1.7%	4.7%	6.8%	2.7%
	Information and cultural industries	2.9%	4.0%	2.0% ^E	2.3%	3.1%	1.5%
	Finance and insurance	5.0%	4.6%	5.3%	5.1%	4.0%	6.1%
Industry – Labour	Real estate and rental and leasing	1.0%	1.2% ^E	0.9%	1.6%	1.8%	1.3%
industry sectors (NAICS	Professional, scientific and technical services	5.9%	7.0%	5.0%	7.4%	8.8%	6.1%
2012)	Management of companies and enterprises	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
	Admin. and support/waste management and remediation services	3.6%	3.9%	3.4%	3.3%	3.9%	2.7%
	Educational services	8.6%	5.4%	11.3%	7.7%	4.2%	11.1%
	Health care and social assistance	15.0%	7.4%	21.5%	11.3%	4.0%	18.6%
	Arts, entertainment and recreation	1.5%	0.7% ^E	2.1%	1.2%	1.2%	1.3%
	Accommodation and food services	4.1%	3.9%	4.3%	4.2%	3.3%	5.0%
	Other services (except public administration)	4.0%	2.8%	5.1%	4.0%	3.6%	4.4%
	Public administration	9.2%	7.8%	10.4%	6.6%	7.4%	5.8%
	Industry not provided	3.7%	2.0%	5.2%	7.2%	3.8%	10.5%

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

There is no clear pattern to indicate that degree of severity of disability has an impact on securing a position within any of the industry groups.

			Sev	erity of disabili	ty	
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
-	estimate, employed MCW					
with disabili		777,200	438,400	150,900	117,400	70,500
	Agriculture, forestry,	0.40/5	4 70/5	4 20/5	O 70/F	0.40/
	fishing and hunting	0.4% ^E	1.7% ^E	1.3% ^E	0.7% ^E	0.4%
	Mining, quarrying, and oil	0 70/F	1 00/	2.1% ^E	0.3% ^E	0.70/
	and gas extraction	0.7% ^E	1.8%			0.7%
	Utilities	0.6% ^E	1.1% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.9% ^E	0.6%
	Construction	6.4% ^E	4.1%	6.3%	10.6%	6.4%
	Manufacturing	3.0% ^E	7.7%	9.5%	6.0%	3.0%
	Wholesale trade	2.3% ^E	4.1%	2.4% ^E	4.0% ^E	2.3%
	Retail trade	17.9%	10.4%	10.5%	9.0%	17.9%
	Transportation and					
	warehousing	11.6% ^E	3.4%	4.7%	0.9% ^E	11.6%
	Information and cultural					
	industries	2.0% ^E	3.4%	2.8% ^E	2.0% ^E	2.0%
	Finance and insurance	5.5% ^E	4.1%	6.2%	6.5% ^E	5.5%
Industry –	Real estate and rental and					
Labour	leasing	1.1% ^E	1.2% ^E	0.4% ^E	1.3% ^E	1.1%
industry sectors	Professional, scientific and					
(NAICS	technical services	4.3% ^E	6.9%	4.9%	4.5% ^E	4.3%
2012)	Management of	2.22/5	0.00/5	0.00/5	0.00/5	2.00
	companies and enterprises	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.0%
	Admin. and support/waste					
	management and remediation services	3.0% ^E	3.0%	3.7% ^E	6.1% ^E	3.0%
		3.0% ^E	9.7%		8.2%	3.0%
	Educational services Health care and social	3.0%	9.7%	8.4%	8.2%	3.0%
	assistance	13.9% ^E	17.1%	13.9%	9.5%	13.9%
	Arts, entertainment and	13.370	17.170	13.570	3.370	13.370
	recreation	1.4% ^E	1.1% ^E	2.1% ^E	2.1% ^E	1.4%
	Accommodation and food					
	services	5.1% ^E	3.8%	4.8%	4.0%	5.1%
	Other services (except					
	public administration)	5.0% ^E	3.6%	3.5% ^E	5.5%	5.0%
	Public administration	7.2%	8.8%	10.4%	10.4%	7.29
	Industry not provided	0.0% ^E	0.0% ^E	0.1% ^E	0.0%	0.0%

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

Are MCW with disabilities more likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions? Is the situation different for younger workers with disabilities? For older workers with disabilities?

Recall that only 65.8% of MCW are employed (Table 7) and of those, seven out of 10 (69.6%) are employed in permanent full-time positions. This means that three out of 10 MCW with disabilities (31.1%) are employed in permanent part-time positions, in non-permanent positions or are self-employed and for some, this results in lower income, financial insecurity, and limited or no access to benefits.

Employed female MCW with disabilities are less likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions than their male counterparts – 66.7% versus 73.1% respectively.

Compared to younger workers with disabilities (aged 18 to 34) and older workers with disabilities (aged 50 to 64 years), employed MCW with disabilities are

- more likely to be employed in permanent full-time positions (69.6% versus 59% for younger and 59.7% for older
- less likely than older workers to be self-employed (12.8% versus 22% respectively)

		Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estima employed	ite, MCW with disabilities who are	777,200	355,700	421,500
	Employee – permanent – full-time	69.6%	73.1%	66.7%
	Employee – permanent – part-time	8.7%	4.3%	12.4%
Tona aformali	Employee – not permanent – full- time	4.6%	5.6%	3.8%
Type of work	Employee – not permanent – part-			
	time	4.1%	3.2%	4.8%
	Self-employed	12.8%	13.7%	12.0%
	Other*	0.2% ^E	0.2% ^E	0.3% ^E

[•] Includes working in a family business without pay and type of employment not specified. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

Table 18. Type of	employment for adults with disabilities who	o are employed, b	y type of worker	and age	
		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
-	te, adults with disabilities who are				
employed		2,274,600	644,900	777,200	853,100
	Employee – permanent – full-time	62.9%	59.0%	69.6%	59.7%
	Employee – permanent – part-time	10.0%	14.0%	8.7%	8.2%
	Employee – not permanent – full-				
Tuno of work	time	6.5%	10.7%	4.6%	5.1%
Type of work	Employee – not permanent – part-				
	time	5.1%	7.7%	4.1%	4.1%
	Self-employed	15.0%	8.4%	12.8%	22.0%
	Other*	0.4% ^E	0.1% ^E	0.2% ^E	0.8% ^E

[•] Includes working in a family business without pay and type of employment not specified. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

Disclosure of disability to employer – Do most MCW disclose their condition to their employer? Does rate of disclosure differ depending on severity of disability? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?

Just under two-thirds (64.4%) of MCW with disabilities who are employees disclose their disability to their employer which means that four out of 10 MCW with disabilities do not. Male MCW with disabilities who are employees are less likely to disclose than their female counterparts (60% versus 68.1% respectively).

Disclosure of disability increases from 63.4% among MCW with a mild disability who are employees to 77.7% among MCW with a severe disability who are employees.

Disclosure of disability to employers increases as age increases: 57.1% of young workers, 64.4% of MCW, and 70% of older workers who are employees disclose their disability to their employer.

Table 19. Disclosure of condition to employers by MCW with disabilities who are employed, by sex							
Both sexes Males Females							
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are							
employees	676,800	306,300	370,500				
% who disclosed condition to employer	64.4%	60.0%	68.1%				
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability							

Table 20. Disclosure of condition to employers by MCW with disabilities who are employed, by severity of disability							
	Severity of disability						
	Total Mild Moderate Severe Very severe						
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are							
employees	676,800	392,100	136,460	95,110	53,130		
% who disclosed condition to employer	64.4%	63.4%	67.7%	77.7%	73.5%		
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability							

Table 21. Disclosure of condition to employers by employees with disabilities, by age group						
	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)		
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are						
employees	1,933,300	591,700	676,800	664,800		
% who disclosed condition to employer	64.1%	57.1%	64.4%	70.0%		

Workplace accommodation – Do the majority of MCW with disabilities who are employees require an accommodation in the workplace? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities? What types of workplace accommodations are requested, and does the need vary by sex and/or by age?

- Just over one in three (34.7%) of MCW with disabilities who are employees require at least one type of workplace accommodation and, proportionately, more females than males require a workplace accommodation—39.7% versus 28.6%.
- The need for workplace accommodation by employees with disabilities increases as age increases—from 30.5% among young workers with disabilities to 37% among older workers.
- There are three types of accommodations requested by employees with disabilities:

- "Soft" accommodations include modified or different duties, work from home, and modified hours or days
 or reduced work hours. This is the type of accommodation most often reported as being needed by both
 sexes and by all three age groups.
- "Personal" accommodations include human support such as a sign language interpreter, technical aids such as TTY, special software or other adaptations for computer, laptop or tablet, communication aids, a special chair or back support, and specialized transportation. Proportionately more female employees with disabilities need for this type of support than male employees with disabilities, and MCW with disabilities have the greatest need when compared to younger and older employees.
- "Structural" accommodations include modified or ergonomic workstation, handrails, ramps, widened doorways or hallways, adapted or accessible parking, accessible elevators, and adapted washrooms.
 Proportionately more female employees with disabilities need for this type of support than male employees with disabilities, and the need increases as age increases.

		Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estima employees	te, MCW with disabilities who are	676,800	306,300	370,500
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are			
employees and wh	no need a workplace accommodation	234,700	87,500	147,200
%age of MCW with	disabilities who are employees who need			
a workplace accom	nmodation	34.7%	28.6%	39.7%
%age requiring	soft accommodation	68.0%	66.6%	68.8%
accommodation	personal accommodation	46.7%	43.4%	48.6%
in the workplace	structural accommodation	36.1%	27.1%	41.4%
who need	other type of accommodation	6.8%	9.5%	5.2%

Table 23. Workpla	ce accommodation needed by person with	disabilities who ar	e employees, by	age	
		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are				
employees	'		591,700	676,800	664,800
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are				
employees and who need a workplace accommodation		660,200	180,200	234,700	246,300
%age of MCW with	disabilities who are employees who need				
a workplace accom	modation	34.1%	30.5%	34.7%	37.0%
%age requiring	soft accommodation	69.3%	74.3%	68.0%	66.5%
accommodation	personal accommodation	42.1%	36.0%	46.7%	41.9%
in the workplace	structural accommodation	36.0%	27.8%	36.1%	41.7%
who need	other type of accommodation	7.0%	6.2%	6.8%	7.9%
Source: Unpublishe	d data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability				

Discrimination in the workplace – Do MCW who are employees perceive discrimination? Does perceived discrimination in the workplace differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?

Employees with disabilities were asked about perceived discrimination related to their condition in three work-related scenarios: getting a job interview, getting a job, and getting a promotion.

- 6.5% of MCW with disabilities who are employees, and more males than females (7.5% versus 5.7%), report that they were refused an interview for a job, and this perception decreases as age increases.
- One in 10 male MCW with disabilities who are employees report that they were refused a job. Among young employees with disabilities, 12.2% believe that were refused a job because of their condition, and this perception decreases as age increases.
- Proportionately, more female MCW who are employees believe that they were refused a promotion because of their condition. Among young employees with disabilities, 12.5% believe that were refused a promotion because of their condition, and this perception decreases as age increases.

		Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are			
employees		676,800	306,300	370,500
Discrimination in the workplace	Was refused a job interview because of			
	condition	6.5%	7.5%	5.7%
	Was refused a job because of condition	9.4%	9.9%	9.0%
	Was refused a job promotion because of			
	condition	9.9%	9.5%	10.3%

Table 25. Perceive	d discrimination experienced by person wit	h disabilities who	are employees, l	oy age	
		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are				
employees		1,933,300	591,700	676,800	664,800
	Was refused a job interview because of				
Discrimination in the workplace	condition	7.0%	8.6%	6.5%	6.1%
	Was refused a job because of condition	9.7%	12.2%	9.4%	7.9%
	Was refused a job promotion because of				
	condition	10.2%	12.5%	9.9%	8.4%
Source: Unpublishe	ed data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability		<u>.</u>		

Perceived disadvantage in employment – Do MCW who are employees perceive that they are disadvantaged in employment? Does this perception differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?

Regardless of sex and age, among MCW with disabilities who are employees, approximately one in four employees with disabilities considers themselves to be disadvantaged in employment and believes that an employer (current or potential) would consider them to be disadvantaged in employment.

		Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are			
employees		676,800	306,300	370,500
	Considers oneself disadvantaged in			
	employment because of condition	24.3%	22.9%	24.3%
Disadvantaged in	Believes that an employer (current or			
employment	potential) would likely consider			
	individual to be disadvantaged in			
	employment	25.3%	26.8%	24.0%

Table 27. Perceived workplace disadvantage experienced by person with disabilities who are employees, by age					
		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estima	te, MCW with disabilities who are				
employees		1,933,300	591,700	676,800	664,800
	Considers oneself disadvantaged in				
	employment because of condition	25.1%	26.8%	24.3%	24.6%
Disadvantaged in	Believes that an employer (current or				
employment	potential) would likely consider				
	individual to be disadvantaged in				
	employment	24.7%	24.0%	25.3%	24.9%
Source: Unpublishe	ed data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability				

Under-employed – Do MCW who are employees believe that they are under-employed? Does this perception differ by sex? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?

Male MCW with disabilities who are employees are more likely than their female peers to believe that their current position does not give them the opportunity to use all of their education (24.2% versus 21.5%). In addition, male MCW with disabilities who are employees are more likely than their female peers to believe that their current position does not require the level of education that they have (34.6% versus 29%). Perceived under-employment decreases as age increases.

	Characteristics	Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are				
employees		676,800	306,300	370,500
Indicators of	% who believe that their current position in the workforce does not give them the opportunity to use all of their education	22.8%	24.4%	21.5%
under- employment	% who believe that their current position does not require the level of education that they have	31.6%	34.6%	29.0%

	Characteristics	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estima employees	te, adults with disabilities who are	1,933,300	591,700	676,800	664,800
Indicators of	% who believe that their current position in the workforce does not give them the opportunity to use all of their education	23.4%	26.0%	22.8%	21.6%
perceived under- employment	% who believe that their current position does not require the level of education that they have	31.8%	36.2%	31.6%	28.2%

Labour Market Experience of MCW with disabilities who are unemployed

MCW with disabilities who are unemployed make up 5.3% (62,800) of the total MCW population with disabilities. Proportionately, there are slightly more males than females: 5.6% versus 5.1% (Table 7).

MCW with disabilities who have a moderate or severe disability are over-represented in the population that is actively seeking employment (the unemployed). Just over half (50.8%) of MCW with disabilities who are actively seeking employment have a moderate or severe disability (unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability). Within the total MCW population with disabilities, only 36.2% have a moderate or severe disability (Table 2).

Highest level of education achieved – Does level of education have an impact when seeking employment? Does this impact vary by sex? By severity of disability? By age?

MCW with disabilities who have no post-secondary education are over-represented in the population that is actively seeking employment. Half (49.6%) of MCW with disabilities who are actively seeking employment have no post-secondary education. Within the total MCW population with disabilities, 39.2% have no post-secondary education (Table 3).

Among young workers with disabilities who are actively seeking employment, the majority (68.9%) have no post-secondary education; among MCW with disabilities, half have no post-secondary and half do. And among older workers, 71.2% have post-secondary education.

Table 30. Highest level of education of unemployed MCW with disabilities, by sex						
		Unemployed MCW with disabilities				
		Both sexes	Males	Females		
Population es	stimate, MCW with					
disabilities who are unemployed		62,800	29,700	33,200		
	Less than high school					
	diploma or its equivalent	16.6%	16.8% ^E	16.3%		
	High school diploma or a					
Highest	high school equivalency					
certificate,	certificate	33.0%	34.7%	31.6%		
diploma or	Post-secondary – non-					
degree	university	32.5%	35.7%	29.5%		
completed	Post-secondary –university	18.0%	12.8%	22.6%		
•	Post-secondary –university			22.6%		

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

Table 31. High	hest level of education of unem	nployed MCW v	vith disabilities	, by severity of	disability	
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
•	stimate, MCW with ho are unemployed	62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
Highest certificate, diploma or	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent High school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate	16.6%	12.4% ^E	24.7% ^E	15.2% ^E	16.4% ^E
degree completed	Post-secondary – non- university	32.5%	26.0%	29.2%	41.2%	41.8% ^E
	Post-secondary –university	18.0%	21.5%	21.4%	14.5%	6.0%

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population es	stimate, adults with				
disabilities w	ho are unemployed	283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100
Highest	Less than high school diploma or its equivalent	16.3%	20.4%	16.6%	11.4%
certificate, diploma or	High school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate	33.9%	48.5%	33.0%	17.4%
degree completed	Post-secondary – non- university	32.1%	19.2%	32.5%	46.8%
	Post-secondary –university	17.8%	11.9%	18.0%	24.4%

Perceived limitation in the workplace – Do unemployed MCW perceive that they are limited in the workplace? Does this perception differ by sex? By severity of disability? Does that perception differ when compared to younger workers or older workers?

Just over half (51.8%) of MCW with disabilities believe that they are limited in the kind or amount of work they can do. Proportionately, this perception is greater among females than males—58.7% versus 43.8%. This perception increases from 39% among MCW with a mild disability to 92.5% among MCW with very severe disabilities.

Perception of limitation is similar among young potential workers with disabilities to MCW with disabilities (49.5% and 51.8%) and increases to 62% among older potential workers with disabilities.

Table 33. Perceived limitation in the workplace by unemployed MCW, by sex					
	Persons with disabilities				
	Both sexes Males Females				
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	29,700	33,200		
% of MCW who believe that they are limited in the amount or kind of work they					
can do	51.8%	43.8%	58.7%		
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability					

	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
% of MCW who believe that they are limited in the amount or kind of work they					
can do	51.8%	39.0%	53.5%	52.1%	92.5%

Table 35. Perceived limitation in the workplace by unemployed MCW with disabilities, by age						
	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)		
Population estimate, adults with						
disabilities who are unemployed	283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100		
% of MCW who believe that they are						
limited in the amount or kind of work they						
can do	54.5%	49.5%	51.8%	62.0%		
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability						

Type of employment sought – Does type of employment sought differ by sex? By severity of disability? Is the type of employment sought different for younger workers with disabilities? Older workers?

Seven out of 10 (70.6%) MCW with disabilities who are unemployed are seeking full-time employment (30 hours or more per week). Among males, this figure is nine out 10 (89.1%), and among females it is five out of 10 (53.6%).

Table 36. Type of employment sought by unemployed MCW with disabilities, by sex						
	Unemployed MCW with disabilities					
	Both sexes Males Females					
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	29,700	33,200			
Full-time (30 hours or more per week)	70.6%	89.1%	53.6%			
Part-time (less than 30 hours per week)	29.4%	10.9%	46.4%			
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability						

Table 37. Type of employment sought by unemployed MCW, by severity of disability					
	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
Full-time (30 hours or more per week)	70.6%	61.1%	67.1%	83.6%	79.7%
Part-time (less than 30 hours per week)	29.4%	38.9%	32.9%	16.4%	20.3%
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability					

Table 38. Perceived limitation in the workplace by unemployed adults with disabilities, by age							
	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)			
Population estimate, adults with							
disabilities who are unemployed	283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100			
Full-time (30 hours or more per week)	67.4%	63.3%	70.6%	70.2%			
Part-time (less than 30 hours per week)	32.6%	36.7%	29.4%	29.8%			
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Su	Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability						

Condition affects ability to look for work – Does an MCW's condition affect their ability to look for work? Does this differ by sex? By severity of disability? Does this affect MCW more or less than younger workers? Older workers?

Three out of 10 (31.1%) MCW with disabilities who are unemployed believe that their condition has an impact on their ability to seek employment. This perception dramatically increases as severity of disability increases—from one in 10 (9.5%) among MCW with a mild disability to eight out of 10 (80.3%) among MCW with very severe disabilities.

It is interesting to note that this perception is highest among the younger group (persons aged 18 to 34 years) with disabilities at 38.4%.

Table 39. Impact of condition on ability to seek employment by unemployed MCW with disabilities, by sex						
Persons with disabilities						
	Both sexes Males Females					
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	29,700	33,200			
% of MCW who perceive that their condition impacts on their ability to seek						
employment	31.1%	28.3%	33.6%			
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability						

Table 40. Impact of condition on ability to seek employment by unemployed MCW with disabilities, by severity of disability					
	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
% of MCW who perceive that their condition impacts on their ability to seek					
employment	31.1%	9.5%	31.0%	42.8%	80.3%
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability					

Table 41. Impact of condition on ability to seek employment by unemployed adults with disabilities, by age						
	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)		
Population estimate, adults with						
disabilities who are unemployed	283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100		
% of MCW who perceive that their condition impacts on their ability to seek						
employment	34.7%	38.4%	31.1%	32.7%		
Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability						

Accommodation in the workplace – Do unemployed MCW require accommodation in the workplace? Does this need vary by sex? By severity of disability? Is the need greater among younger workers? Older workers? Does type of accommodation differ?

Proportionately, more MCW with disabilities who are unemployed require a workplace accommodation than MCW with disabilities who are employed—43.9% versus 34.7% (Table 22). The difference between the two populations is greater for females than males. Among female MCW with disabilities who are unemployed, more than half (53.3%) would require a workplace accommodation compared to 39.7% among female MCW with disabilities who are employed (Table 22).

Nine out of 10 MCW with a very severe disability who are unemployed require a workplace accommodation.

		Person	Persons with disabilities		
		Both sexes	Males	Females	
Population estimate, disabilities who are u		62,800	29,700	33,200	
Population estimate, disabilities who are uneed an accommoda	inemployed who	27,600	9,900	17,700	
% who need an accor	accommodation 43.9% 33.3%		33.3%	53.3%	
%age requiring accommodation in	a personal accommodation	56.2%	68.7%	49.2%	
the workplace who need	a structural accommodation	34.4% ^E	42.4%	29.9%	

Table 43. Accommod accommodation	lation needed by unem	ployed MCW wi	th disabilities,	by severity of d	lisability and ty	pe of
		Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed		62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
Population estimate, disabilities who are uneed an accommoda	inemployed who	27,600	8,600	8,000	5,300	5,700
% who need an accor		43.9%	35.7% ^E	51.6%	31.9%	85.1%
%age requiring accommodation in	a personal accommodation	56.2%	61.6% ^E	53.8% ^E	37.7%	68.4%
the workplace who need	a structural accommodation	34.4%	24.4% ^E	36.3% ^E	24.5% ^E	54.4% ^E

E: CV associated with estimate exceeds 16.5% - use with caution. Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

		Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estimate disabilities who are		283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100
Population estimate disabilities who are uneed an accommoda	unemployed who	128,100	51,600	27,600	48,900
% who need an accor	mmodation	45.2%	43.6%	43.9%	47.9%
%age requiring accommodation in	a personal accommodation	55.4%	47.5%	56.2%	63.4%
the workplace who need	a structural accommodation	36.1%	30.0%	34.4%	43.6%

Sources used when looking for work – What sources were used by MCW when seeking employment? Did these sources differ by sex? By severity of disability? Did younger workers and older workers use the same sources when seeking employment?

The three sources most often used by unemployed MCW with disabilities to find employment opportunities include a union, a government employment agency, or a job ad (either placed or answered) These three sources do not vary by sex or by age.

	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe
Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are unemployed	62,800	24,200	15,400	16,500	6,700
Contacted employers directly	16.5%	10.0% ^E	14.3% ^E	13.1% ^E	52.2%
Looked at job adds	19.7%	14.5% ^E	15.7%	18.5%	50.7%
Placed or answered job ads	43.8%	33.6%	51.0%	40.4%	71.6% ^E
Contacted a government employment agency	48.4%	45.6%	53.9%	37.7%	68.7%
Contacted a private employment agency	21.5%	12.0% ^E	37.0% ^E	18.6% ^E	26.9% ^E
Contacted a union	55.8%	48.1%	56.5%	59.6%	73.1%

Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estimate, adults with disabilities who are unemployed	283,300	118,400	62,800	102,100
Contacted employers directly	21.5%	30.1%	16.5%	14.4%
Looked at job adds	26.3%	36.0%	19.6%	19.0%
Placed or answered job ads	54.7%	69.1%	43.9%	44.4%
Contacted a government employment agency	53.3%	62.0%	48.4%	46.1%
Contacted a private employment agency	29.3%	40.5%	21.6%	20.8%
Contacted a union	59.1%	62.2%	55.8%	57.4%

Discrimination in the workplace – Do MCW who are unemployed perceive discrimination in the workplace? Is sex or severity of disability a factor? Is the situation different for younger employees with disabilities? For older employees with disabilities?

Perception of discrimination with respect to getting an interview for a job or getting a job is much higher among MCW with disabilities who are unemployed than among MCW with disabilities who are employed (Table 24).

- Whereas 6.5% of employed MCW with disabilities believe that they have been refused an interview for a job because of their condition, this percentage double to 13.2% among unemployed MCW with disabilities, and the difference is greater between the two populations among females: 5.7% and 12.7%.
- Whereas 9.4% of employed MCW with disabilities believe that they have been refused a job because of their condition, this percentage more than doubles to 22.9% among unemployed MCW with disabilities, and that difference holds for both males and females.

		Both sexes	Males	Females
Population estima	ite, MCW with disabilities who are			
unemployed		62,800	29,600	33,200
	Was refused a job interview because of			
Discrimination in the workplace	condition	13.2%	13.9%	12.7%
	Was refused a job because of condition	22.9%	23.2%	22.6%
	Was refused a job promotion because of			
	condition	15.8%	20.0% ^E	12.2% ^E
E: Use with caution	condition	15.8%	20.0% ^E	12

Table 49. Perceived discrimination experienced by MCW with disabilities who are unemployed, by severity of disability Severity of disability Characteristics Very Total Mild Moderate Severe severe Population estimate, MCW with disabilities who are 62,800 24,100 15,500 16,500 6,700 unemployed Was refused a job interview because of condition 13.2% 5.0%^E 15.5%^E 21.8% 16.4%^E Discrimination in Was refused a job because of the workplace 22.9% 25.3% 38.8%^E condition 11.6%^E 30.7%

15.8%

1.8%^E

16.2%^E

39.8%^E

 $20.8\%^{E}$

E: Use with caution – CV >= 16.5%.

Source: Unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability

of condition

Was refused a job promotion because

	Characteristics	Total aged 18 to 64 years	Young workers (18 to 34 years)	MCW (35 to 49 years)	Older workers (50 to 64 years)
Population estima	te, adults with disabilities who are				
unemployed		283,300	118,300	62,800	102,200
	Was refused a job interview because of				
Discrimination in	condition	16.1%	16.1%	13.2%	17.8%
	Was refused a job because of condition	24.2%	24.8%	22.9%	24.2%
the workplace	Was refused a job promotion because of				
	condition	11.1%	10.8%	15.8%	8.6%

Labour Market Experience of MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force

There are 242,200 MCW with disabilities who are neither employed nor actively looking for work (currently not in the labour force). The majority (57.8%) were female. Among the 195,300 females who reported that they are currently not in the labour force, 68.5% reported that their condition completely prevented them from working at a job or business. Of the 142,600 males who reported that they are currently not in the labour force, 76.1% reported that they were completely prevented from working (unpublished data, 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability).

The remainder of this section provides some details about the 89,600 MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force and who reported that their condition did not prevent them from working.

- Almost two-thirds of MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but whose condition does not prevent them from working are female (64.3%).
- Among male MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour but whose condition does not prevent them from working, 30.3% have a mild disability and 30.6% have a very severe disability. By contrast, among their female peers, 39.4% have a mild disability and only 10.9% have a very severe disability.
- Slightly more than half (53.1%) have some post-secondary education, and there is no marked difference between the sexes.

	Sex	Severity of disability					
	Sex	Total	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Very severe	
Estimate	Male	32,000	9,700	4,400	8,100	9,800	
	Female	57,600	22,700	14,800	13,800	6,300	
	Both sexes	89,600	32,400	19,200	21,900	16,100	
Percentage	Male	100.0%	30.3%	13.8%	25.3%	30.6%	
	Female	100.0%	39.4%	25.7%	24.0%	10.9%	
	Both sexes	100.0%	36.2%	21.4%	24.4%	18.0%	

	Sex	Highest level of education					
		Total	Less than high school	High school diploma or equivalency certificate	Post- secondary, non-university	Post secondary, university	
Estimate	Male	32,000	2,500	12,100	10,500	6,90	
	Female	57,600	9,200	18,200	17,200	13,00	
	Both sexes	89,600	11,700	30,300	27,700	19,9	
	Male	100.0%	7.8%	37.8%	32.8%	21.6	
Percentage	Female	100.0%	16.0%	31.6%	29.9%	22.6	
	Both sexes	100.0%	13.1%	33.8%	30.9%	22.2	

What are the barriers that MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working have encountered that discourages them from looking for work? Do these barriers differ by sex?

Compared to male MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working, female MCW with disabilities in the same employment position are

- almost twice less likely to believe that their expected employment income would be less than their current income—6.4% versus 12.2%
- less likely to believe that they would lose their additional supports—10.1% versus 14.7%
- less likely to have experienced discrimination in the past—11.6% versus 19.7%
- twice less likely to have been unsuccessful when attempting to find work—14.9% versus 29.7%
- more likely to feel that their training or experience is not adequate for the current job market—32.5% versus 25.6%

		discouraged them from looking for work and sex % who				
	Sex	believe that expected employment income would be less than current income	believe that they would lose additional supports	have experienced discrimination in the past	have been unsuccessful when attempting to find work	feel that their training or experience is not adequate fo the current market
	Male	12.2%	14.7%	19.7%	29.7%	25.6
Percentage	Female	6.4%	10.1%	11.6%	14.9%	32.
	Both sexes	8.5%	11.7%	14.5%	20.2%	29.

What is the experience MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working had when interacting in the labour market? Does this experience differ by sex?

Compared to male MCW with disabilities who are currently not in the labour force but who are not prevented from working, female MCW with disabilities in the same employment position:

- are less likely to have told their previous employer about their condition—21% versus 30.3%
- were less likely working when they became limited—27.8% versus 45.5%
- are less likely to believe that their condition affects their ability to look for work—27.2% versus 60.5%
- are less likely to have looked for work in the past two years—29,5% versus 46.4%

		% who				
	Sex	told their previous employer about their condition	were working when they became limited	believe that their condition affects their ability to look for work	have looked for work in the past two years	
	Male	30.3%	45.5%	65.0%	46.4%	
Percentage	Female	21.0%	27.8%	27.2%	29.5%	
	Both sexes	24.3%	34.1%	40.7%	35.6%	

Conclusion

The objective of this report is to provide the research team with as much quantitative data as possible to inform their work in the subsequent phases of the project. In an ideal world, the content of the report would have been guided by the scoping review. However, given that the scoping review is being done in parallel to production of this report, we undertook a brief literature review to provide its structure and content. We provide an overview of the literature – not to link the literature to the findings but to support the nature and extent of the analyses undertaken. Once the scoping review has been completed, we *strongly recommend* that this report be reviewed and revised to link the literature to the report findings and to add, if necessary, additional analyses of data from the 2017 Canadian Survey on Disability.

The report uses a GBA+ and severity of disability lens for the majority of data presented. We also bring in some data for younger and older workers with disabilities for comparative purposes and, for some analyses (where relevant), data for MCW without disabilities.

Given the objective of the report, we present all of the data in tabular format supported by brief highlights. We have copied the most important highlights to the section of the report titled "Key Findings".

References

- Annequin, M., Lert, F., Spire, B., Dray-Spira, R., & ANRS-Vespa2 Study Group. (2016). Increase in unemployment over the 2000s: Comparison between people living with HIV and the French general population. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(*11*), 1-17.
- Athanasou, J. A., Murphy, G. C., & Mpofu, E. (2019). The impact of disabilities on earning or learning in Australia and the implications for career development. *Australian Journal of Career Development*, 28(2), 103-111. https://doi.org/10.1177/1038416218772062
- Arim, Rubab. 2015. "A profile of persons with disabilities among Canadians aged 15 years or older, 2012." Canadian Survey on Disability, 2012. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-654-X. ISBN 978-1-100-25046-5.
- Bacon, & Hoque, K. (2022). The treatment of disabled individuals in small, medium-sized, and large firms. *Human Resource Management*, 61(2), 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22084
- Beatty, J. E. (2006). An overlooked dimension of diversity: The career effects of chronic illness. *Organizational Dynamics,* 35(2), 182-195.
- Branje, S., Laninga-Wijnen, L., Yu, R., & Meeus, W. (2014). Associations among school and friendship identity in adolescence and romantic relationships and work in emerging adulthood. *Emerging Adulthood*, 2(1), 6-16.
- Brohan, E., Henderson, C., Wheat, K., Malcolm, E., Clement, S., Barley, E., Slade, M., & Thornicroft, G. (2012). Systematic review of beliefs, behaviours and influencing factors associated with disclosure of a mental health problem in the workplace. *BMC Psychiatry*, 12, 11.
- Brouwers, E. (2020). Social stigma is an underestimated contributing factor to unemployment in people with mental illness or mental health issues: Position paper and future directions. *BMC Psychology, 8,* 36.
- Brown, N., Nicholson, J., Campbell, F., Patel, M., Knight, R., & Moore, S. (2021). COVID-19 post-lockdown: Perspectives, implications and strategies for disabled staff. *Alter*, *15*(*3*), 262-269.
- Canadian Association for Community Living. (2006). *From values to action: Building a community living movement for a decade of change.* Toronto: Author.
- Canadian Association for Community Living. (2009). *National report card 2009: Inclusion of Canadians with intellectual disabilities*. Toronto: Author.
- Canadian Association for Community Living & People First of Canada. (2013a). *Ready, willing and able: People with intellectual disabilities creating an inclusive labour force*. Toronto: Author.
- Cavanagh, J., Bartram, T., Meacham, H., Bigby, C., Oakman, J., & Fossey, E. (2017). Supporting workers with disabilities: A scoping review of the role of human resource management in contemporary organisations. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 55(1), 6-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2019.1578819
- Choe, C., & Baldwin, M. L. (2017). Duration of disability, job mismatch and employment outcomes. *Applied Economics,* 49(10), 1001-1015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2016.1210767
- Coetzee, M., Ximba, T., & Potgieter, I. L. (2017). Exploring career advancement challenges people with disabilities are facing in the South African work context. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 15(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v15i0.815

- Council of Canadians with Disabilities (Various Dates). Annual Reports for 2002-2003, 2003-2004, 2004-2005, 2005-2006, 2006, 2007, 2007-2008, 2008-2009. Winnipeg: Author.
- Crom, D., Ness, K., Martinez, L., Hebl, M., Robinson, L., Hudson, M., & Brinkman, T. (2018). Workplace experiences and turnover intention among adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship, 12,* 469-478.
- Dewa, C.S., Chau, N., & Dermer, S. (2010). Examining the comparative incidence and costs of physical and mental health-related disabilities in an employed population." *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 52(7), 758–62.
- Dunstan, D. & MacEachen, E. (2014). A theoretical model of co-worker responses to work reintegration processes. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation, 24*, 189-198.
- Dwertmann, D. J. (2016). Management research on disabilities: examining methodological challenges and possible solutions. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *27*(14), 1477-1509. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1137614
- Elraz, H. (2018). Identity, mental health and work: How employees with mental health conditions recount stigma and the pejorative discourse of mental illness. *Human Relations*, 71(5), 722-741.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. (2015). *Indicators of well-being in Canada Population with a disability.*Ottawa: Author. Retrieved from http://mieux-etre.edsc.gc.ca/misme-iowb/indicator.jsp?&indicatorid=40
- Ebuenyi, I., Regeer, B., Aguocha, C., Bunders-Aelen, J., & Guxens, M. (2020). Perspectives of mental healthcare providers on pathways to improved employment for persons with mental disorders in two lower middle-income countries. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 14, 26.
- Facey, M., & Eakin, J. (2010). Contingent work and ill-health: Conceptualizing the links. Soc Theory Health, 8, 326-349.
- Flores, N., Moret-Tatay, C., Gutiérrez-Bermejo, B., Vázquez, A., & Jenaro, C. (2021). Assessment of occupational health and job satisfaction in workers with intellectual disability: A job demands—resources perspective. *International journal of environmental research and public health, 18*(4), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18042072
- Furrie, A. D., Gerwurtz, R., Porch, W., Crawford, C., Haan, M., & Stapleton, J. (2016). *People with episodic disabilities in Canada: Who are they and what supports do they need to obtain and retain employment?*Retrieved from http://www.invisibility2inclusion.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/episodic disabilities in canada october 4 final.pdf
- Gignac, M., Kristman, V., Smith, P., Beaton, D., Badley, E., Ibrahim, S., & Mustard, C. (2018). Are there differences in workplace accommodation needs, use and unmet needs among older workers with arthritis, diabetes and no chronic conditions? Examining the role of health and work context. *Work, Aging and Retirement, 4(4),* 381-398.
- Gignac, M., Bowring, J., Beaton, D., Breslin, C., Franche, R., Irvin, E., Macdermid, J., Shaw, W., Smith, P., Thompson, A., Tompa, E., Van Eerd, D., & Saunders, R. (2021). Disclosure, privacy and workplace accommodation of episodic disabilities: Organizational perspectives on disability communication-support processes to sustain employment. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation, 31*, 153-165.
- Government of Canada. 2010. 2010 Federal Disability Report: The Government of Canada's Annual Report on Disability Issues. Human Resources and Skills Development Canada. ISSD-001-11-10. Catalogue no. HS61-1/2010.

- ISBN no. 978-1-100-52363-7.
- Jetha, A., Gignac, M., Bowring, J., Tucker, S., Connelly, C., Proulx, L., & Ginis, K. (2018). Supporting arthritis and employment across the life course: A qualitative study. *Arthritis Care and Research*, 70(10).
- Jetha, A., Johnson, S., & Gignac, M. (2021). Unmet workplace support needs and lost productivity of workers with systemic sclerosis: A path analysis study. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 73(3), 423-431.
- Jones, A., Finkelstein, R., & Koehoom, M. (2018). Disability and workplace harassment and discrimination among Canadian federal public service employees. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 109, 79-88.
- Konrad, A. M., Moore, M. E., Doherty, A. J., Ng, E. S., & Breward, K. (2012). Vocational status and perceived well-being of workers with disabilities. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, *31*(2), 100–123. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151211202772
- Krause, A. (2018). *Differences in employment outcomes between persons with and without disabilities* (Publication No. 10976316) [Doctoral dissertation, The Florida State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Kristman, V. L., Shaw, W. S., & Williams-Whitt, K. (2014). Supervisors' perspectives on work accommodation for chronically ill employees. In Sharon-Dale Stone, V. Crooks, & M. Owen (Eds.), *Working bodies: Chronic illness in the Canadian workplace* (pp. 114-137). Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.
- Lewchuck, W., Vrankulj, S., & Laflèche, M. (2014). Bridging the gap. In Donna Baines & Stephen McBride (Eds.), Orchestrating austerity: Impacts & Resistance. Halifax: Fernwood.
- Lewchuk, W. (2017). Precarious jobs: Where are they, and how do they affect well-being? *The Economic and Labour Relations Review, 00(0), 1-18.*
- MacDonald-Wilson, K., Russinova, Z., Rogers, S., Lin, C., Ferguson, T., Dong, S., & MacDonald, M. (2011). Disclosure of mental health disabilities in the workplace. In I. Schultz & E. Rogers (Eds.), *Work accommodation and retention in mental health* (pp. 191-217). New York: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Martinez, L., & Hebl, M. (2016). Adult survivors of childhood cancers' identity disclosures in the workplace. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship, 10,* 416-424.
- Meredith, T., & Chia, C. (2015). *Leaving some behind: What happens when workers get sick*. Montreal: Institute for Research on Public Policy.
- Michna, Kmieciak, R., & Burzyńska-Ptaszek, K. (2017). Job preferences and expectations of disabled people and small and medium-sized enterprises in Poland: Implications for disabled people's professional development. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 28(3), 299–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21280
- Mithout, A. L. (2021). From equal access to employment to equal career opportunities? Employment practices and work experiences of qualified disabled workers in Japan. *Alter, 15*(4), 341-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alter.2021.07.001
- Moss P., & Teghtsoonian K., (Eds.). (2008). *Contesting illness: Process & practices*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

- Mpofu, E., Tansey, T., Mpofu, N., Tu, W. M., & Li, Q. (2019). Employment practices with people with autism spectrum disorder in the digital age. In I.Potgieter, N. Ferreira & M. Coetzee, *Theory, research and dynamics of career wellbeing* (pp. 309-326). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-28180-9 15
- Munir, F., Leka, S., & Griffths, A. (2005). Dealing with self-management of chronic illness at work: Predictors for self-disclosure. *Social Science & Medicine*, *60*, 1397-1407.
- Nelson, C. Shaw, W., & Robertson, M. (2016). Supervisors and presenteeism: How do supervisors accommodate and support skilled workers with chronic health concerns? *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 28, 209-223.
- Okediji, P., Ojo, A., Ojo, A., Ojo, A., Ojo, O., & Abioye-Kuteyi, E. (2017). The economic impacts of chronic illness on households of patients in Ile-Ife, South-Western Nigeria. *Cureus*, *9*(10).
- Oldfield, M., MacEachen, E., Kirsh. B., & MacNeill, M. (2016). Impromptu everyday disclosure dances: how women with fibromyalgia respond to disclosure risks at work. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *38*(15), 1442-1453.
- Oldfield, M., MacEachen, E., MacNeill, M., & Kirsh, B. (2018). "You want to show you're a valuable employee": A critical discourse analysis of multi-perspective portrayals of employed women with fibromyalgia. *Chronic Illness*, 14(2), 135-153.
- Paulides, E., Daker, C., Frampton, C., Gearry, R., Eglinton, T., de Boer, N., Bernstein, C., & McCombie, A. (2020).

 Overcoming workplace disability in IBD patients: An observational study. *Inflammatory Intestinal Diseases, 5,* 84-92.
- Pereira-Silva, N. L., Furtado, A. V., & Andrade, J. F. C. D. M. (2018). Workplace inclusion from the standpoint of individuals with intellectual disabilities. *Trends in psychology*, 26, 1003-1016. https://doi.org/10.9788/TP2018.2-17En
- Petasis, A. (2020). Type of disability and education as predictors of the occupational status of people with disabilities. American Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences Research, 4(7), 328-338.
- Pope Francis. (Thursday, March 20, 2014). Pope Francis: Without work, human dignity is wounded. *Vatican Information Service*. Retrieved from http://visnews-en.blogspot.ca/2014/03/pope-francis-without-work-human-dignity.html
- Prince, M. (2015). Policies and practices on the accommodation of persons with invisible disabilities in workplaces: A review of Canadian and international literature. Office of Disability Issues Employment and Social Development Canada. Retrieved from https://www.crwdp.ca/sites/default/files/Research%20and%20Publications/litreview prince.doc
- Rashid, M., Hodgetts, S., & Nicholas, D. (2017). Building employer capacity to support meaningful employment for persons with developmental disabilities: A grounded theory study of employment support perspectives. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(11), 3510-3519. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3267-1
- Rathbun-Grubb, S. (2021). Voices of strength: A survey of librarians working with chronic illnesses or conditions. *Journal of Library Administration*, *61*(1), 42-57.
- Realize. (2020). Should I tell them? Working towards barrier-free recruitment in the Canadian labour market. Retrieved from https://www.realizecanada.org/wp-content/uploads/Should-I-Tell-Them- Report-FINAL.pdf

- Richard, S., & Hennekam, S. (2021). Constructing a positive identity as a disabled worker through social comparison: The role of stigma and disability characteristics. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *125*, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103528
- Rose, S., Paul, C., Boyes, A., Kelly, B., Roach, D. (2017). Stigma-related experiences in non-communicable respiratory diseases: A systematic review. *Chronic Respiratory Disease*, 14(3), 199-216
- Santilli, S., Nota, L., Ginevra, M. C., & Soresi, S. (2014). Career adaptability, hope and life satisfaction in workers with intellectual disability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 85(1), 67-74. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.02.011
- Schur, L., Kruse, D., Blasi, J., & Blanck, P. (2009). Is disability disabling in all workplaces? Workplace disparities and corporate culture. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society*, 48(3), 381-410.
- Schur, L. (2002). The difference a job makes: The effects of employment among people with disabilities. *Journal of Economic Issues*, *36*(2), 339-347.
- Schur, L. A. (2002). Dead end jobs or a path to economic well being? The consequences of non-standard work among people with disabilities. *Behavioral sciences & the law, 20*(6), 601-620.
- Smyth, W., Lindsay, D., Holmes, C., Gardner, A., & Rahman, K. (2016). Self-reported long-term conditions of nurses and midwives across a northern Australian health service: A survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 62,* 22-35.
- Soeker, M. S., De Jongh, J. C., Diedericks, A., Matthys, K., Swart, N., & van der Pol, P. (2018). The experiences and perceptions of persons with disabilities regarding work skills development in sheltered and protective workshops. *Work*, *59*(2), 303-314. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-172674
- Solomon, P., O'Brien, K., Nixon, S., Letts, L., Baxter, L., & Gervais, N. (2018). Qualitative longitudinal study of episodic disability experiences of older women living with HIV in Ontario, Canada. *BMJ Open, 8,* 1-7.
- Standing Committee on Human Resources, Skills and Social Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities. (2013). *Exploring employment opportunities for persons with disabilities*. Ottawa: House of Commons (41st Parliament, First Session, June 13).
- Stergiou-Kita, M., Pritlove, c., & Kirsh, B. (2016). The "Big C" Stigma, Cancer and Workplace Discrimination. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 10, 1035-1050.
- Stone, S., Crooks, V., & Owen, M. (2013). Going through the back door: Chronically ill academics' experiences as 'unexpected workers'. *Social Theory & Health*, *11*(2), 151-174.
- Stutterheim, S., Brands, R., Baas, I., Lechner, L., Kok, G., & Bos, A. (2017). HIV status disclosure in the workplace: Positive and stigmatizing experiences of health care workers living with HIV. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in Aids Care*, 28(6), 923-937.
- Till, M., Leonard, T., Yeung, S., & Nicholls, G. (2015). A profile of the labour market experiences of adults experiencing disability among Canadians aged 15 years and older, 2012 [Catalogue no. 89-654-X2015005]. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Tompa, E., Buettgen, A., Mahood, Q., Padkapayeva, K., Posen, A., & Yazdani, A. (2015). Evidence synthesis of workplace

- accommodation policies and practices for persons with visible disabilities—Final Report. Retrieved from https://www.crwdp.ca/sites/default/files/documentuploader/full_report_-____evidence_synthesis_visible_disabilties_tompa_et_al._2015.pdf
- Toth, K. E., & Dewa, C. S. (2014). Employee decision-making about disclosure of a mental disorder at work. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 24(2), 732-746.
- Toye, F., Seers, K., Allcock, N., Briggs, M., Carr, E., & Barker, K. (2016). A synthesis of qualitative research exploring the barriers to staying in work with chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *38*(6), 566-572.
- Tran, M., & Sokas, R. (2017). The gig economy and contingent work: An occupational health assessment. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *59*(4), 63-66.
- Tulk, C., Mantler, J., & Dupré, K. (2021). The impact of job accommodations on stereotyping and emotional responses to coworkers with anxiety or depression. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 53(2), 138-151.
- Vick, A. (2014). Living and working precariously with an episodic disability: Barriers in the Canadian context. *Canadian Journal of Disability Studies, 3*(3), 1-28.
- von Schrader, S., Malzer, V., & Bruyère, S. (2014). Perspectives on disability disclosure: The importance of employer practices and workplace climate. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 26(4), 237-255.
- Wilton, R. (2006). Working at the margins: Disabled people and the growth of precarious employment. In Dianne Pothier & Richard Devlin (Eds.), *Critical disability theory: Essays in philosophy, politics, policy, and law* (pp. 129-150). Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Yin, M., & Shaewitz, D. (2015). *One size does not fit all: A new look at the labor force participation of people with disabilities.* American Institutes for Research. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2601.7768
- Yoshimura, Y., Bakolis, I., & Henderson, C. (2018). Psychiatric diagnosis and other predictors of experienced and anticipated workplace discrimination and concealment of mental illness among mental health service users in England. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *53*, 1099-1109.